Cellular and Molecular regulators of RBC alloimmunization

Anupam Prakash

Charlottesville, VA

M.S. Biological Sciences, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, 2017

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pathology

University of Virginia May, 2023

Dedication and Acknowledgements

"If I have seen further, it is by standing on the shoulders of Giants." Sir Isaac Newton

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents who have made great sacrifices for my education and for their unwavering belief in my success.

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Chance John Luckey for his constant encouragement, support, and patience. He has been instrumental in my development as a scientist by always challenging me to think critically. I have greatly enjoyed our conversations about science and soccer. John was a fantastic mentor and I greatly appreciate all his help and advice over the years.

Words cannot express my gratitude for Dr. Jelena Medved and Dr. Abhinav Arneja for their friendship and mentorship in the lab. Jelena took the time to train me technically and scientifically when I first joined the lab and was always there to answer my questions. More importantly, I am grateful for her friendship and being proactive in organizing fun stuff to do outside the lab. I would like to thank Abhinav for his scientific help, for his friendship and getting me to go to the gym on a regular basis. I will always cherish our discussions on a wide range of topics including philosophy, politics, movies, food, and science. I would like to thank them both for making me feel at home in the lab. I would like to thank Conrad Niebuhr for all his help and assistance in the lab and for making my work easier. It was great working with him, and I appreciate his contribution to this work.

I would also like to thank Juan Salazar for his friendship and work in the lab. I am also thankful to all my friends at UVA, including Ian and George.

I would also like to recognize the work done by undergraduate students, especially Alexis, Andria, Emily, Soraya, Aanika that has been very important for the completion of these experiments.

I would like to thank the members of my committee: Dr. Janet Cross, Dr. Jim Zimring, Dr. Loren Erickson and Dr. Tim Bender. I appreciate their feedback and the facilitation of important scientific discussions during our meetings which enabled the successful completion of this work.

I would also like to commend the excellent work by the Animal Care staff in the MR5 vivarium and for taking great care of our mice and supporting our experiments. I would also like to recognize the countless mice who have contributed to the advancement of our scientific understanding.

I would also like to thank the various staff members of the Pathology department: Mary White, Susan Bywaters, Michael Kidd and Mary Hall for their excellent administrative support.

I am grateful to my friends Rohit, Anuj, Abhay and Manish for their friendship over the years. I am also thankful to my brother, grandmother, and uncle for all their love and support.

iii

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Chapter 1: Introduction
RBC Alloimmunization4
Mouse models of RBC alloimmunization9
Factors affecting RBC Alloimmunization13
Molecular and Cellular mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization
Gaps in our understanding 19
Chapter 2: CMV infections enhance anti-RBC antibody formation in mice
and humans22
Introduction23
Materials and Methods27
Results
Discussion
Chapter 3: Class switching is differentially regulated between RBC
alloimmunization and vaccination65
Introduction
Materials and Methods70
Results75
Discussion
Chapter 4: Discussion and Future Directions95
Chapter 5: References 106

<u>Abstract</u>

The vast majority of RBC transfusion recipients do not generate antibodies against alloantigens expressed on the RBC surface. We therefore set out to understand why some RBC transfusions are more immunogenic than others. We hypothesized that underlying infections like cytomegalovirus (CMV) at the time of transfusion can lead to increased production of anti-RBC antibodies. Using mouse models, we found that CMV infections at the time of RBC transfusions led to enhanced production of anti-RBC antibodies. We then set out to understand the cytokine and cellular mechanism regulating enhanced antibody production. We found that type 1 IFN signaling was mostly not required for the generation of anti-RBC antibodies following CMV infection. In order to study other cytokines that might be regulating CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization, we first identified the cell types required for the generation of the anti-RBC antibody response. We found that CD4+ T cells were mostly required for generation of anti-RBC lgG. Furthermore, CMV infections led to increased expansion of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells and enhanced differentiation into helper cells. Given the importance of CD4+ T cells, we hypothesized that IL-21, a key T cell-derived cytokine might be regulating anti-RBC antibody production. Interestingly, we found that IL-21 signaling was only partially required for anti-RBC antibody generation following CMV infection, suggesting that other cytokines are regulating the antibody response. Given our mouse data, our collaborators in the Netherlands examined the association between CMV viremia and RBC alloimmunization in their patient dataset. They found that CMV positivity was associated with increased risk of RBC

alloimmunization, which supported our mouse data. Our results show that CMV infections can lead to increased anti-RBC antibody responses.

We further studied anti-RBC antibody generation in a mouse model of storage-induced RBC alloimmunization. Though mouse models allow for the mechanistic exploration of class-switching, previous studies RBC of alloimmunization in mice have focused more on the total IgG response than the relative distribution, abundance, or mechanism of IgG subclass generation. Given this major gap, we compared the IgG subclass distribution generated in response to transfused RBCs relative to protein in alum vaccination and determined the role of STAT6 in their generation. WT mice were either immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA or transfused with HOD RBCs and levels of anti-HEL IgG subtypes were measured using end-point dilution ELISAs. To study the role of STAT6 in IgG class-switching, we first generated and validated novel STAT6 KO mice using CRISPR/cas9 gene editing. STAT6 KO mice were then transfused with HOD RBCs or immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA, and IgG subclasses were quantified by ELISA. When compared to antibody responses to Alum/HEL-OVA, transfusion of HOD RBCs induced lower levels of IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c but similar levels of IgG3. Class switching to most IgG subtypes remained largely unaffected in STAT6 deficient mice in response to HOD RBC transfusion, with the one exception being IgG2b. In contrast, STAT6 deficient mice showed altered levels of all IgG subtypes following Alum vaccination. Our results show that anti-RBC class-switching occurs via alternate mechanisms when compared to the well-studied immunogen alum vaccination.

Chapter One: Introduction

RBC Alloimmunization

RBC transfusions are given as life-saving treatment for patients who might have moderate to severe anemia and for those with acute blood loss. Most RBC transfusions are allogeneic i.e., they are "foreign" or "non-self". Therefore, transfusion of these "foreign" RBCs has the potential of generating an immune response against molecules expressed on these RBCs, leading to adverse transfusion reactions. One such antigenic system is the ABO system, which is a group of polymorphic carbohydrate antigens that are expressed on RBCs. Antibodies against ABO are IgM and pre-existing. Transfusion of ABOincompatible RBCs leads to an acute hemolytic reaction, followed by renal failure and in many cases, death. Therefore, typing is performed prospectively on all transfusion recipients to determine their ABO status in order to find ABOcompatible RBC units.

In addition to the ABO system, there are over 300 known alloantigens that can cause adverse transfusion reactions (Figure 1.1). Transfusion of RBCs incompatible for these non-ABO antigens leads to an IgG response that is often not a significant cause of concern during the first transfusion. However, during subsequent exposure to RBCs, these antibodies can bind to RBCs, causing delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions (DHTRs) (Figure 1.2). While the rates of alloimmunization for most alloantigens in the general population remain low (2-4%), alloantibody generation for a particular antigen, RhD, is higher (around 20%). In addition, generation of anti-RhD antibodies is particularly a problem for women during subsequent pregnancy. Due to this, RhD is also prophylactically typed

before transfusions in order to find RhD-compatible blood. In addition to ABO and RhD typing, screening is also performed to detect IgG antibodies against non-RhD alloantigens to provide compatible RBCs for transfusion. While the alloimmunization rates remain low (2-4%), there are over 4 million transfusions in the United States every year and this presents major problems.

There are two key problems associated with RBC alloimmunization:

RBC alloantibodies can make finding compatible blood difficult

The overall rates of RBC alloimmunization in the general population remain low at around 2-4%.¹ However, some patients who require chronic transfusions have higher rates of alloimmunization compared to the general population. In addition to these high rates, some patients generate antibodies to multiple surface antigens, making it challenging and causing delays in obtaining compatible RBC units for life saving transfusions.

Evanescence of RBC antibodies can lead to DHTRs

Another significant problem is that anti-RBC antibodies are evanescent. In fact, retrospective studies have shown that around 50% of newly formed alloantibodies drop below the threshold of detection within a year after initial detection.^{1,2} Therefore, some patients who have been previously alloimmunized can test negative during antibody screens prior to transfusion. Subsequent transfusion with RBCs expressing a sensitized antigen can lead to an anamnestic response, leading to rapid production of secondary antibodies. These antibodies can bind to antigens on transfused RBCs and subsequently cause delayed

hemolytic transfusion reactions (DHTRs) that can cause patient morbidity and mortality.^{3,4}

<u>The mechanisms regulating RBC alloimmunization is of great importance and</u> interest in the field of transfusion medicine and immunology

As previously mentioned, anti-RBC alloantibodies are evanescent with over 50% of all newly generated antibodies dropping below the threshold of detection within 1 year of their generation.^{1,2} This is in stark contrast to antibodies generated to common infections and vaccinations that are long lived and can have half-lives of a few hundred years.⁵ Furthermore, while only a small percentage of transfusion recipients generate anti-RBC antibodies, the vast majority of vaccination recipients make an antibody response. Given this disparity in antibody half-life and response rates between RBC alloimmunization and infections/vaccinations, the mechanisms regulating RBC alloimmunization are of great importance and interest in the field of transfusion medicine and immunology. Therefore, our lab and others are working to understand the underlying molecular mechanisms with the ultimate goal to prevent and manage alloantibody generation. A significant portion of this study will be dedicated to understanding the mechanistic differences in antibody generation between vaccination and RBC transfusion using mouse models.



Figure 1.1: Alloantigens on RBC surface

RBC alloantigens are protein molecules expressed on the surface of RBCs. There are over 340 different RBC alloantigens that have been identified previously.⁶ Some examples include Kell, Kidd and Duffy. Figure adapted from *Blood Groups and Red Cell Antigens* Chapter 2.⁷



Figure 1.2: Delayed Hemolytic Transfusion Reactions (DHTRs) occur as a result of secondary antibody generation in response to transfused RBCs

Primary transfusions with RBC units can stimulate the generation of anti-RBC antibodies in some patients. These antibodies are often evanescent and fail to be detected during future screening. Re-exposure to RBCs during subsequent transfusions can induce a recall response leading to rapid increase in anti-RBC antibodies and can cause delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions (DHTRs).

Mouse models of RBC alloimmunization:

Most of our mechanistic understanding of anti-RBC antibody generation comes from work using mouse models. There are many mouse models of RBC alloimmunization that have been developed over the years such as the Duffy (Fy^b) transgenic model, Human glycophorin A (hGPA)-transgenic model, HELtransgenic model, Kel transgenic models and many others.⁸ However, the HOD transgenic model of alloimmunization remains one of the most widely used due to its experimental tractability. The HOD mouse model of RBC alloimmunization uses HOD transgenic mice that express a triple fusion protein consisting of Hen Egg Lysozyme (HEL), Ovalbumin (OVA) and human Duffy that is expressed on the RBC surface under the control of a β -globin promoter (Figure 1.3).⁹ There are many advantages of the HOD mouse model over other models of alloimmunization. Existing HEL and OVA BCR and TCR transgenic mice allow us to track the fate of HOD-specific B and T cells in an alloimmune response. In addition, the anti-HOD antibody response can be easily studied by using widely used techniques such as ELISA and flow crossmatch. Finally, the HOD mouse model is also enhanced by storage and therefore can be used to study the impact of RBC storage on the alloantibody response (Figure 1.4).

Previous work in our lab and others have shown that transfusion of stored HOD RBCs into recipient mice leads to the generation of an early anti-HOD IgM response which further class-switches to IgG and is more immunogenic compared to transfusion of fresh HOD RBCs.^{10–13} Given that the HOD model is enhanced by storage and can be used to study the cellular and molecular mechanisms of RBC

alloimmunization, this model will be used to study anti-RBC immune responses in this study.



Figure 1.3: HOD model of RBC alloimmunization

HOD transgenic mice express a fusion protein consisting of hen egg lysozyme (HEL) (pink), ovalbumin (OVA) (green) and human Duffy (blue) on the surface of RBCs. The transgene is expressed in RBCs under the control of a β -globin promoter. Figure modified from *Desmarets et al., 2009.*⁹



Figure 1.4: HOD model of RBC alloimmunization is storage dependent

RBCs from HOD transgenic mice were transfused into recipient C57BL/6 mice, either fresh or after storage at 4 for 12 days. Anti-HEL IgG titers were measured at 14 days post-transfusion. Figure modified from *Medved et al., 2021*.¹³

Factors affecting RBC alloimmunization:

As mentioned earlier, most transfusions do not result in an alloimmune response. Therefore, understanding why some patients generate anti-RBC antibodies compared to others is an important question in transfusion medicine. While there might be several potential risk factors regulating RBC alloimmunization, a few have been highlighted below.

Underlying inflammation/infections can impact RBC alloimmunization

Recipient inflammatory status is an important variable in RBC alloimmunization. Early work in mice has shown that viral infections such as influenza and viral mimetics such as poly IC can lead to enhancement of alloantibodies.^{14,15} Conversely, the bacterial cell wall component LPS inhibited alloantibody formation in mouse models.¹⁶ These studies suggested that recipient inflammation and infections can alter the alloantibody response. A subsequent study in humans showed that ongoing infections at the time of transfusion can have an impact on alloimmunization risk.¹⁷ Interestingly, it was shown that while viral and fungal infections enhanced alloimmunization, certain bacterial infections suppressed alloimmune responses.¹⁷ These mouse studies in combination with human data show that recipient infections and inflammation at the time of transfusion can alter RBC alloimmunization risk, with some enhancing while others suppress RBC alloantibody formation. Further chapters in this study will investigate the role of cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections in regulation of alloimmunization in mice and humans.

Storage of RBCs can influence RBC alloimmunization

In addition to recipient infection and inflammation, other potential risk factors might also have a significant impact on anti-RBC antibody formation.

Blood storage conditions have been explored previously as a potential variable. Collected RBCs are not transfused fresh but are stored for a maximum allowable period of 42 days.¹⁸ The average age of transfused RBCs in the US has been estimated to be around 18 days.¹⁸ Storage of RBCs for extended periods has been shown to cause "storage lesions" that include oxidative damage and metabolic changes.¹⁹ Previous studies have largely shown that storage does not impact alloimmunization risk in humans²⁰⁻²³, while others have shown that extremities of storage can impact alloimmunization in patients with sickle cell disease (SCD).²⁴ However, studies in mice show that storage of RBCs leads to an enhancement of anti-RBC alloantibodies in the HOD model of alloimmunization.¹⁰⁻ ¹³ Conversely, storage of RBCs expressing the Kel antigen, show a storagedependent decrease in anti-RBC IgG.²⁵ These reports suggest that the antigen expressed on RBCs might also be playing a role in storage-dependent alloimmunization. While further studies are required, storage time remains an important variable for consideration while evaluating alloimmunization risk.

Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization:

The spleen is an important organ for RBC alloimmunization:

Since the spleen serves as a filter for bloodborne antigens and ageing RBCs in addition to being a secondary lymphoid organ, immune responses to bloodborne antigens are initiated in the spleen. The spleen has also been shown to be an essential organ for anti-RBC antibody responses in mice.²⁶ Furthermore, this data was consistent with a study in human transfusion recipients, showing that splenectomies are associated with strong protection from primary RBC alloimmunization.²⁷

Marginal Zone B cells regulate RBC alloimmunization in mouse models

The marginal zone (MZ) lies between the white pulp (WP) and red pulp (RP) and consists of multiple macrophage populations and MZ B cells. MZ B cells play an important role in immune responses to bloodborne antigens. MZ B cells are phenotypically distinct from follicular B cells. MZ B cells are characterized by expression of CD21^{hi} and CD23^{neg} while follicular B cells are characterized by CD21^{neg} and CD23^{hi}. Following antigenic exposure, these cells can differentiate into IgM and IgG secreting cells.²⁸ MZ B cells have also been shown to be capable of migrating into the WP following antigenic challenge where they can activate CD4+ T cells and/or deliver antigen to follicular B cells in multiple immunization systems.^{29–32} The role of MZ B cells in regulating anti-RBC immune response has been studied. Previous studies have shown that transfusion of Iabelled RBCs leads to co-localization of the transfused RBCs with MZ B cells.^{33,34} Furthermore,

depletion of MZ B cells led to a dramatic decrease in anti-RBC IgM and IgG, suggesting their importance in anti-RBC antibody formation.^{33,34}

Splenic Bridging Channel DCs (cDC2) are required for RBC alloimmunization

Splenic DC subsets also play important roles in sensing bloodborne pathogens and in activation of antigen specific CD4+ T cells. The two major types of conventional DCs (cDCs) in the spleen include cDC1 and cDC2. Splenic cDC1s express XCR1 and are localized in two regions of the spleen-migratory cDC1s are located in RP and MZ while resident cDC1s are located in the periarteriolar lymphoid sheaths (PALS) in the WP. WP-resident cDC1s access antigen from conduits or immigrating cells. cDC1s also express CD8 α . Splenic cDC2s are present exclusively in the bridging channel. cDC2s are characterized by expression of DC immunoreceptor 2 (DCIR2). The role of these DC subsets has also been investigated downstream of RBC transfusions in mouse models of RBC alloimmunization. Previous work has shown that while both cDC1 and cDC2 subsets phagocytose transfused RBCs and express the co-stimulation molecule CD86, only cDC2s are required for the production of anti-RBC antibodies.^{12,35} Furthermore, ex vivo studies have shown that cDC2s are better activators of RBCspecific CD4+ T cells compared to cDC1s.¹² These studies highlight the importance of these splenic DC subsets in RBC alloimmunization.

CD4+ T cell requirement for RBC alloimmunization seems to be antigen dependent

Primed DCs migrate to the WP where they interact with naïve CD4+ T cells in the T cell zone (TCZ). CD4+ T cells with antigen specific TCRs interact with primed DCs, leading to their activation. Activated CD4+ T cells express the chemokine receptor CXCR5 enabling them to move towards the B cell follicle. By using antibody-mediated depletion of CD4+ T cells or MHC-II KO mice, previous reports have shown that anti-RBC IgG production required CD4+ T cells in the HOD model of alloimmunization.^{12,33} However, studies using Kel expressing RBCs have shown that anti-RBC antibodies are mostly CD4+ T cell independent at early time points³⁶, suggesting that CD4+ T cell dependence is impacted by antigens expressed by RBCs.

Multiple cytokines regulate anti-RBC antibody production

In addition to the multiple cell types pivotal to the generation of antibody responses, there are many cytokines that play an important role in the immune response. IL-6 is an important cytokine that is important for GC development and IgG production.^{37,38} IL-6 is also required for T_{fh} differentiation.^{39,40} Previous work in our lab has shown that mice deficient in IL-6 signaling had significant defects in anti-RBC IgG secretion.¹¹ Furthermore, IL-6 signaling was shown to be T cell-intrinsic and had an impact on T_{fh} differentiation.¹¹ In addition to IL-6, IL-21 and IL-4 are important cytokines that are produced by T_{fh} cells in the germinal center. These cytokines play an important role in IgG class-switching and promote extrafollicular and GC responses.³⁹ The role of IL-4 signaling in regulating anti-RBC antibody responses will be further explored in the upcoming chapters.

While a lot of work has been done in uncovering some of the cellular and molecular mechanisms regulating RBC alloimmunization, our understanding remains limited. Our lab and many others around the world are working on understanding the regulators of RBC alloimmunization, with the overall goal of developing intervening therapies that could prevent this condition in transfusion recipients.

Gaps in our understanding:

Previous experiments by multiple groups have advanced our understanding of mechanisms involved in the generation of anti-RBC alloantibodies. We now have a limited understanding of some of the cellular players like bridging channel DCs, CD4+ T cells and MZ B cells that are involved in alloantibody formation. We also know that cytokines such as IL-6 play an important role in anti-RBC antibody production. Additionally, we know that certain inflammatory stimuli can lead to enhancement of RBC alloimmunization while others suppress.

However, there are still large gaps in our knowledge and understanding of how alloimmunization occurs. For example, despite efforts, we still do not know why some transfusion recipients alloimmunize while others do not.

Studies of human patients have shown that most anti-RBC alloantibodies are IgG1 or IgG3 subclasses, ^{41–43} though it is unclear why transfused RBCs preferentially drive these subclasses over others. Though mouse models allow for the mechanistic exploration of class-switching, previous studies of RBC alloimmunization in mice have focused more on the total IgG response than the relative distribution, abundance, or mechanism of IgG subclass generation. IgG antibodies are not homogenous, as individual antibodies are expressed as a particular IgG isotype that has unique effector properties. Expression of different IgG isotypes occurs when B cells are induced to undergo class-switching, a process by which a fixed antigen binding region of the heavy chain locus is rearranged so that it is expressed along with one of four different unique IgG constant regions.⁴⁴ Since each of these constant regions interacts with different

effector molecules, class-switching serves as a mechanism to diversify the potential effector functions of a given antibody specificity. Indeed, each IgG isotype has its own unique half-life, serum abundance, affinity for specific Fc receptors, and ability to activate complement. Thus, knowing which isotypes of antibodies predominate in a given immune response can give us a better understanding of the functional outcome. Despite this, we still do not know the relative abundance and the IgG subclass distribution that is generated in response to RBC transfusions.

Given these major gaps, this study has been undertaken to answer certain key questions in the field of transfusion medicine and immunology:

- Do clinically relevant infections such as cytomegalovirus have an impact on RBC alloimmunization?
- 2) What is the relative IgG subclass abundance and distribution in RBC alloimmunization?
- 3) What are the molecular regulators of anti-RBC IgG subclasses and how do they differ from antibody responses to vaccination?



Figure 1.5: Schematic showing unanswered questions (in red) in the field of transfusion medicine and immunology that we have set out to address in this study

Chapter Two: CMV infections enhance anti-RBC antibody formation in mice

<u>and humans</u>

Introduction:

It is interesting to note that the vast majority of transfusion recipients do not make antibodies in response to transfused RBCs. Given the low alloimmunization rates, understanding why only some transfusion recipients generate antibodies while most do not is an important question in transfusion medicine.

One potential factor that might determine whether a person makes an antibody or not is the recipient's immune status. Previous studies have shown that the inflammatory state of transfusion recipients at the time of transfusion is an important factor in the determination of alloimmunization risk. Studies using mouse models of RBC alloimmunization have shown that mice immunized with the double stranded RNA mimetic poly I:C or the single stranded RNA influenza virus prior to transfusion with RBCs showed enhanced production of anti-RBC alloantibodies.^{14,15,45} In contrast, administration of the gram negative bacterial cell wall component LPS prior to transfusion led to decreased alloantibody responses.¹² A subsequent study in humans showed that patients who had disseminated viral infections and certain fungal infections during a pre-defined alloimmunization risk period had a higher risk of RBC alloimmunization.¹⁷ Conversely, patients with gram negative bacteremia appeared to have decreased risk of RBC alloimmunization.¹⁷ These studies in mice and humans establish the role of the inflammatory state of the transfusion recipient as a key regulator of RBC alloimmunization. These studies further show that the type of infectious stimulus and resulting recipient inflammation can differentially impact anti-RBC alloimmunization.

Different classes of infections activate the immune system through recognition by innate immune receptors, known as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) specific for pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) expressed by the infectious agent. For instance, Influenza virus (ssRNA virus) consists of viral components that activate TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, RIG-I and NLRP-3;46 Poly I:C is a synthetic analog of dsRNA viruses that is recognized by TLR3, RIG-I and MDA-5;^{47–49} while LPS, a gram-negative bacterial cell wall component activates TLR4.⁵⁰ Differential activation of PRRs by different PAMPs drives rapid secretion of different pro-inflammatory cytokines that can support antigen-specific immune responses. While influenza virus drives secretion of type 1 IFNs, IFN-y, IL-1, IL-6, IL-18 and IL-10 among others,^{51–53} poly I:C administration leads to production of type 1 IFNs, IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α and many other cytokines.^{54–56} In contrast, LPS activation of TLR4 leads to secretion of cytokines including TNF- α , IL-6, IFN- γ , IL-1β.^{57,58} Therefore, different infections can lead to differential activation of downstream cytokines and can have varying impacts on immune cell activation.

Given that various infectious PAMPs activate different PRRs and generate differential cytokine milieus, they can have varying effects on anti-RBC antibody formation. While previous reports have studied the effects of dsRNA, ssRNA and gram-negative bacteria on RBC alloimmunization, our understanding of dsDNA viral infections remains unclear. Therefore, we set out to investigate the impact of a novel, clinically relevant dsDNA viral infection in the context of RBC alloimmunization.

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a dsDNA virus and a member of the *Betaherpesvirinae*. CMV associated PAMPs are recognized by TLR3, TLR7, TLR9 and TLR2.^{59–62} In addition, CMV associated PAMPs can also activate the cGAS-STING pathway.^{63,64} Activation of these innate sensing pathways lead to rapid secretion of a host of cytokines including IL-12, IFN- γ , TNF- α , IFN- α , IFN- β and IL-6.^{65–69}

Furthermore, CMV is clinically relevant, especially for those patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) as a treatment for hematological malignancies including acute and chronic leukemias, multiple myeloma, Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. These patients also receive multiple RBC transfusions as part of supportive care while undergoing HSCT. Given that HSCT conditioning regimens often leads to bone marrow aplasia, the rates of RBC alloimmunization rates remain low in these patients, as shown by several studies.^{70–73} However, despite neutropenia in these patients, a small subset of these patients still produce anti-RBC alloantibodies. Given the increased risk of CMV viremia in HSCT recipients and the prevalence of RBC alloimmunization in some HSCT recipients, we hypothesized that ongoing CMV infection at the time of RBC transfusion might lead to enhanced RBC alloimmunization.

In order to study the effects of murine CMV infection on RBC alloimmunization in mice, we turned to the experimentally tractable HOD mouse model of RBC alloimmunization. The HOD model is a widely used system to understand mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization. HOD transgenic mice express

a fusion protein consisting of Hen Egg Lysozyme (HEL), Ovalbumin (OVA) and human Duffy on the surface of RBCs.⁷⁴ Our lab has previously shown that transfusion of freshly collected HOD RBCs into recipient C57BL/6 mice leads to generation of a small, but detectable anti-HOD IgG response.¹³

In this study, we show that ongoing CMV infection at the time of transfusion leads to enhancement of alloantibody responses in the HOD mouse model of RBC alloimmunization. We further show that murine CMV infection leads to a robust expansion of RBC-specific CD4+ T cells and increased anti-RBC CD4+ T cell activation. To validate these findings in humans, our collaborators measured the relative risk of RBC alloimmunization in CMV positive HSCT patients retrospectively and found that CMV infections significantly increased the risk of developing alloimmunization in their patient dataset.

Materials and Methods:

<u>Mice:</u> 8-10 weeks old C57BL/6 mice (Jackson) were housed at the University of Virginia Animal Care Facility. HOD transgenic mice were maintained on an FVB background as previously described.⁹ HOD transgenic RBCs contain the triple fusion protein of Hen Egg Lysozyme, Ovalbumin and Duffy. CD45.1+ OT-II mice were generated by crossing CD45.2+OT-II (B6.Cg-Tg(TcraTcrb)425Cbn/J, Jackson) with CD45.1 B6.SJL (B6.SJL-Ptprca Pepcb/BoyJ, Jackson) for multiple generations. All mouse protocols were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees of University of Virginia, Charlottesville.

<u>Murine blood collection and transfusion:</u> Blood from HOD mice was aseptically collected by cardiac puncture into the anticoagulant citrate phosphate dextrose adenine (CPDA-1, Boston Bioproducts IBB-420). The final volume was adjusted to 20% CPDA-1 (v/v). Collected HOD blood was leukoreduced using whole blood cell leukoreduction filter (Pall, AP-4851). Leukoreduced blood was centrifuged at 1200 x g for 10 minutes, adjusted to a final hematocrit of 75% and transfused. Recipient mice received 100ul of 75% Hct HOD blood intravenously via retroorbital injection.

<u>MCMV infections</u>: Mice were injected i.p. with MCMV (Smith Strain ATCC VR1399, 5 X 10⁴ PFU). Mice that were injected with MCMV and HOD RBCs received HOD RBCs 10 hours post infection.

<u>Adoptive Transfer Experiments</u>: OVA-specific naïve CD4+ T cells were purified from spleens of CD45.1+ OT-II mice using the CD4+ T cell Isolation Kit, mouse (Miltenyi Biotec 130-104-454), followed by a second round of purification using the

Naïve CD4 T cell Isolation Kit, mouse (Miltenyi Biotec 130-104-453), according to manufacturer's instructions. 10,000 naïve CD45.1+ OT-II cells were adoptively transferred into recipient C57BL/6 mice intravenously by retroorbital injection 2 days prior to transfusion with HOD RBCs. 2 days post adoptive transfers, recipient mice either received HOD RBCs with or without MCMV infections as described above. Mice were euthanized at days 5 and 8 post transfusion and splenocytes were stained for transferred OT-II cells.

OT-II enumeration and T cell activation staining: Following adoptive transfer with OT-II cells and infection with MCMV/HOD RBC transfusion, mice were euthanized at day 5 post-transfusion. Spleens were harvested and mechanically disrupted to obtain a suspension of splenocytes, followed by RBC lysis (eBioscience Cat: 00-4300-54). Splenocytes were first stained with Fixable Viability Dye eFluor[™] 780 (eBioscience Cat: 65-0865-14) to exclude dead cells. To enumerate OT-II cells and activated T cells, splenocytes were first stained with biotinylated rabbit anti-mouse CXCR5 antibody (1:25) (BD Biosciences Cat: 551960), followed by staining with biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:50) (BD Biosciences Cat: 550338). Finally, cells were stained with an antibody cocktail containing: Streptavidin brilliant violet 421 (1:100) (Biolegend Cat: 405226), anti-CD4 AlexaFlour488 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat:100425), anti-CD8 APC-Cy7 (1:400) (Biolegend Cat: 100713), anti-B220 APC-Cy7 (1:400) (Biolegend Cat: 103223), anti-PD-1 Brilliant Violet 711 (1:100) (Biolegend Cat: 135231), anti-CD45.1 PE-Cy7 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat: 110729) and anti-CD45.2 Brilliant Violet 510 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat: 109837). For determination of CXCR5hi BCL-6+ cells, the above protocol was used, following

which, cells were fixed and permeabilized, and stained with either anti-BCL-6 AlexaFlour647 (1:100) (BD Pharmingen Cat: 561525) or mouse IgG1k AlexaFlour647 isotype control (1:100) (BD Pharmingen Cat: 557732) using the BD Pharmingen Transcription Factor Buffer Set (BD Pharmingen Cat: 562574) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were analyzed using Attune NxT flow cytometer and data were analyzed using FlowJo software.

Measurement of anti-HOD antibodies: Anti-HOD antibodies were measured using flow crossmatch. Serum was collected from experimental mice at 1 week and 2 weeks post transfusion. Serum from transfused mice or untransfused controls were diluted 1:5 in FACS buffer ((PBS + 0.5% BSA + 2% FBS + 0.1% sodium azide) and incubated with 5 x 10⁶ FVB.HOD RBCs or FVB RBCs for 10 minutes at room temperature. RBCs were then washed 3 times with FACS buffer and cells were split into two plates. The first plate was incubated with a secondary antibody to detect IgG (Alexa Fluor 647 anti-mouse IgG, Invitrogen, A21236). The second plate was incubated with with the following secondary antibodies: PE anti-mouse IgG1 (Invitrogen, 31862), Alexa Fluor 647 anti-mouse IgG2b (Invitrogen, A21242), FITC anti-mouse IgG2c (SouthernBiotech, 1077-02) or PE-Cy7 anti-mouse IgG3 (SouthernBiotech, 1100-17). For IgM detection, serum was collected at 1 week post transfusion and was detected using a similar protocol as mentioned above. PE anti-mouse IgM (Invitrogen, M31504) was used to detect anti-HOD IgM following primary incubation. All antibodies were used at 1:200 dilution in FACS buffer and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Following secondary incubation, cells were washed once with FACS buffer and fluorescence was

detected using Attune NxT flow cytometer (Invitrogen). Data were analyzed using FlowJo software to obtain median fluorescence intensity (MFI). MFIs are presented as a ratio of HOD MFIs and FVB MFIs to control for technical variability between experiments, variability in flow cytometers and different secondary antibodies.

<u>CD4+ T cell depletion</u>: To deplete CD4+ T cells, mice were injected with either a CD4+ T cell depleting antibody (250 μ g, BioXCell Cat: BE0003) or an isotype control antibody (250 μ g, BioXCell Cat: BE0090) at days -4 and -2 via i.p injection. CD4+ T cell depletion was confirmed at days 0, 7 and 14 by flow cytometric staining of PMBCs using anti-CD4 AlexaFlour488 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat:100425), anti-CD8 Brilliant Violet 510 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat: 100751) and anti-B220 PE/Cy7 (1:200) (Biolegend Cat: 103221) using a protocol as explained above. At day 0, both groups of mice were injected with 5 x 10⁴ PFU MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs as explained previously.

<u>IFNAR1 blocking experiments:</u> To block IFNAR1 signaling, mice were injected with either an IFNAR1 blocking antibody (100 μ g, BioXCell Cat: BE0241) or an isotype control antibody (100 μ g, BioXCell Cat: BE0083) at days -1 and 1. At day 0, mice were injected with 5 x 10⁴ PFU MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs as explained previously.

<u>Statistical analysis:</u> Graphing of data and statistical analysis were performed using GraphPad Prism software. Mann-Whitney test was done to compare 2 groups. p < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant and assigned *, whereas p < 0.01, p < 0.001, and p < 0.0001 were assigned **, ***, and ****, respectively.

Results:

Murine CMV infection leads to enhancement of anti-RBC antibody response:

To study the impact of ongoing CMV infections on anti-RBC antibody generation in mice, we transfused mice with HOD RBCs with or without prior infection with murine CMV virus (MCMV) (Figure 2.1A). We first measured the anti-HOD IgM response 1 week post transfusion. Interestingly, we observed that preinfection with MCMV led to enhancement of the anti-HOD IgM response (Figure 2.1B). To measure the impact of MCMV infection on class switching to IgG, we measured various anti-HOD IgG isotypes at 2 weeks post transfusion. We first observed that MCMV infection enhanced total anti-HOD IgG (Figure 2.1C), consistent with previous data using poly I:C and influenza virus.^{14,15,45} Regulation of IgG class switching into various subtypes has been shown to be influenced by the cytokine milieu generated downstream of the immunogenic stimuli. We found that, relative to transfusion with HOD RBCs alone, mice that were pre-infected with MCMV showed significantly elevated levels of anti-HOD IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3 (Figure 2.1D-G), suggesting that molecular pathways activated downstream of MCMV infection can support class switching to multiple IgG subtypes. Our data demonstrate that ongoing murine CMV infection at the time of transfusion with HOD RBCs leads to elevated anti-HOD antibody formation, suggesting a broad range of impact of CMV infection on all anti-RBC antibody subtypes. Given the enhancement of anti-RBC antibodies in the context of MCMV infection, we set out to investigate the cell types and molecular pathways that might be playing a role in this process.


Figure 2.1: Murine CMV infection leads to enhancement of anti-RBC antibody response.

WT mice were transfused with HOD RBCs with or without pre-infection with MCMV. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05.

<u>Type 1 interferon signaling is required for poly I:C-driven RBC alloimmunization</u>, but mostly dispensable for CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization:

The cytokine milieu plays an important role in regulating antibody production to various immunogenic stimuli. Therefore, we set out to identify the cytokines that regulate anti-RBC antibody production. CMV infection in mice leads to production of a whole host of cytokines including IL-12, IFN- γ , TNF- α , type 1 IFNs and IL-6.^{65–69} In addition, previous data in poly I:C and influenza-induced RBC alloimmunization have shown the requirement of type 1 IFN signaling pathways for the generation of anti-RBC antibody responses.^{14,15} We therefore set out to test whether type 1 IFN signaling also played a role in CMV-induced RBC alloimmunization.

We first validated the role of type 1 IFN signaling in poly I:C driven RBC alloimmunization. IFNAR1 is the common receptor subunit required for signaling by type 1 IFNs (IFN- α and IFN- β). WT mice were either administered an isotype control antibody or IFNAR1 blocking antibody as described previously.¹⁵ Both groups of mice were injected with poly I:C prior to transfusion with HOD RBCs (Figure 2.2A). We found that at 1 week post transfusion, IFNAR1 blocked mice had similar anti-HOD IgM levels compared to isotype controls (Figure 2.2B). We did observe a dramatic decrease in anti-HOD IgG levels in IFNAR1 blocked mice (Figure 2.2C), consistent with previous results.¹⁵ We further measured anti-HOD IgG subclasses. We found that IFNAR1 blocking had a significant impact on IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3, suggesting that IFNAR1 signaling played an important

role and was required for the generation of poly I:C-driven anti-HOD IgG responses (Figure 2.2D-G).



Figure 2.2: Poly I:C-driven RBC alloimmunization requires IFNAR1 signaling.

WT mice were injected with an isotype control antibody or an IFNAR1 blocking antibody. These mice were then transfused with HOD RBCs following administration with poly I:C. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05. In order to study if IFNAR1 signaling was required for MCMV-driven anti-HOD antibody responses, we disrupted type 1 interferon signaling by using blocking antibodies directed against IFNAR1. Mice were administered either anti-IFNAR1 blocking antibodies or an isotype control antibody prior to the experiment (Figure 2.3A). Both groups of mice were infected with MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs as detailed above. We found that disruption of IFNAR1 signaling did not have an impact on the anti-RBC IgM response (Figure 2.3B). We further observed no differences in the total anti-RBC IgG response between the two groups of mice (Figure 2.3C). Interestingly, we did observe a small but significant decrease in anti-RBC IgG2b levels in mice that were deficient in IFNAR1 signaling (Figure 2.3E). However, we did not observe any differences in anti-RBC IgG1, IgG2c and IgG3 between the two groups (Figure 2.3D, F-G).



Figure 2.3: IFNAR1 signaling is mostly dispensable for MCMV-driven RBC alloimmunization.

WT mice were injected with an isotype control antibody or an IFNAR1 blocking antibody. These mice were then transfused with HOD RBCs following infection with MCMV. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05. We further validated these results by using WT and IFNAR1 KO mice. Lack of IFNAR1 signaling in IFNAR1 KO mice was confirmed by stimulating splenocytes with IFN- β and measuring pSTAT1. We observed that while WT splenocytes showed robust pSTAT1 signal, splenocytes from IFNAR1 KO mice failed to show a pSTAT1 signal, showing that IFNAR1 KO mice were deficient in type 1 IFN mediated signaling (Figure 2.4).

WT and IFNAR1 KO mice were infected with MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs as explained above (Figure 2.5A). Consistent with our experiments using IFNAR1 blocking antibodies, we observed no difference in the anti-RBC IgM response between WT and IFNAR1 KO mice (Figure 2.5B). We further observed that WT and IFNAR1 KO had similar levels of total anti-RBC IgG, IgG1, IgG2c and IgG3 (Figure 2.5C-G). However, we observed a significant decrease in anti-RBC IgG2b in IFNAR1 KO mice compared to WT mice, consistent with our data using IFNAR1 blocking antibodies (Figure 2.5E).

Taken together, our data show that while IFNAR1 signaling is partially required for anti-RBC IgG2b production, it is mostly dispensable for the CMV-induced anti-RBC antibody response. This is in stark contrast to our data using poly I:C and previously published data using poly I:C and influenza, ^{14,15} and highlights the differences between the anti-RBC antibody response enhanced by various viral infections. Given that IFNAR1 signaling was largely dispensable for anti-RBC antibody generation, we set out to explore the cytokines might be required for anti-RBC antibody responses. To get a better understanding of

cytokines regulating anti-RBC antibodies, we first identified the cell types that play a key role in the antibody response.



Figure 2.4: IFNAR1 KO mice are deficient in IFN-β driven pSTAT1 signaling.

Splenocytes from WT and IFNAR1 KO mice were stimulated in vitro with IFN-β.

pSTAT1 was measured in various cell populations by flow cytometry



Figure 2.5: IFNAR1 signaling is mostly dispensable for MCMV-driven RBC alloimmunization.

WT and IFNAR1 KO mice were transfused with HOD RBCs following infection with MCMV. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c. (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05.

<u>CD4+ T cells are largely required for enhanced anti-RBC antibody formation</u> following MCMV infection:

Our previous data showed that ongoing MCMV infection can lead to enhancement of anti-RBC antibody production and is largely independent of IFNAR1 signaling. To better understand the cytokine mechanism, we first investigated the cell types that might be required for the CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization. CD4+ T cells play an important role in antibody secretion by producing cytokines and providing help to cognate B cells in various antigenic systems. In fact, previous work has shown that antibody responses to stored HOD RBCs is dependent on CD4+ T cells.^{12,33}

To study the role of CD4+ T cells in the MCMV-driven enhancement of anti-RBC antibody responses, mice were treated with a CD4+ T cell depleting antibody or an isotype control antibody prior to the experiment (Figure 2.6A). CD4+ T cell depletion was confirmed by flow cytometric analysis of PMBCs (Figure 2.6B). Following confirmation of CD4+ T cell depletion, mice were infected with MCMV and then transfused with HOD RBCs as explained previously. We first measured the anti-HOD IgM response 1 week post transfusion. Interestingly, we observed that CD+ T cell depletion had no impact on the anti-HOD IgM response, suggesting that CD4+ T cells might not be required for MCMV-enhanced anti-HOD IgM formation (Figure 2.6C). We next measured anti-HOD IgG subtypes following CD4+ T cell depletion. In contrast to our IgM data, we observed that anti-HOD IgG was significantly diminished following CD4+ depletion (Figure 2.6D). We further found that anti-HOD IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3 were dramatically impacted by

CD4+ T cell depletion (Figure 2.6E-H). Our results show that MCMV-driven enhancement of anti-RBC IgM is CD4+ T cell independent. We also show that the anti-RBC IgG response is largely T cell dependent, with IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3 being impacted by loss of CD4+ T cells.



Figure 2.6: CD4+ T cells are mostly required for MCMV-driven RBC alloimmunization.

WT mice were injected with an isotype control antibody or a CD4+ T cell depleting antibody. These mice were then transfused with HOD RBCs following infection with MCMV. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Confirmation of CD4+ depletion. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c (H) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05.

<u>Anti-RBC CD4+ T cells show increased expansion and differentiation following</u> MCMV inf<u>ection:</u>

Given that CD4+ T cells were largely required for the MCMV driven RBC alloimmunization, we set out to investigate the impact of MCMV infections on anti-RBC CD4+ T cells. To study anti-HOD RBC specific CD4+ T cells, we made use of the TCR transgenic OT-II mouse model, where most of the CD4+ T cell compartment is specific for OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide, which is an important component of the HOD transgenic protein. Adoptive transfer of naïve OT-II cells into HOD RBC recipients allows us to track the anti-HOD CD4+ T cell response. Therefore, in order to measure the impact of MCMV infection on anti-HOD CD4+ T cells, congenically marked naïve OT-II cells were adoptively transferred into C57BL/6 mice. These mice were infected with MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs as explained previously (Figure 2.7A). Splenic OT-II cell numbers were measured at day 5 post transfusion to measure the anti-HOD CD4+ T cell response. We found that while transfusion with HOD RBCs alone only led to a modest increase in OT-II cell numbers, infection with MCMV prior to transfusion led to a robust expansion of OT-II cells (Figure 2.8B). Mice that were infected with MCMV without transfusion with HOD RBCs failed to show any expansion of OT-II cells. Activation of naïve CD4+ T cells leads to increased expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR5 that supports migration towards the B cell follicle. In multiple immunization models, activated CD4+ T cells can provide help to cognate B cells, either at the B-T zone interface (extrafollicular) or inside the follicle (germinal center). CD4+ T cell help can support class switching, affinity maturation and differentiation into long lived

plasma cells.³⁹ Given the increased numbers of OT-II cells seen in HOD transfused mice following MCMV infection, we wanted to investigate CD4+ T cell activation in this setting. We used expression of CXCR5, PD-1 and Bcl-6 to identify activated T cells. It is important to note that classically, expression of these proteins have been used to identify germinal center localized follicular helper T cells (Tfh). However, while these proteins are important in germinal center formation, there is evidence suggesting that they are also expressed by activated T cells outside the germinal center (extrafollicular T cells).^{75–77} We therefore used these proteins as markers of RBC-specific CD4+ T cell activation. We identified these cells by measuring coexpression of CXCR5 and PD-1 or CXCR5 and BCL6. Interestingly, we found that while HOD RBCs alone showed no T cell activation, pre-infection with MCMV led to robust expression of these markers, suggesting enhanced RBC-specific T cell activation following CMV infection (Figure 2.8C-D). Our data demonstrate that infection with MCMV prior to RBC transfusion leads to enhanced expansion of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells and increased activation, suggesting better CD4+ T cell help in the generation of anti-RBC antibodies.



Figure 2.8: MCMV infection leads to increased expansion and differentiation of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells.

Naïve OT-II cells were adoptively transferred into WT mice. These mice were then transfused with HOD RBCs following infection with MCMV. OT-II cells were quantified at day 5 post-transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of OT-II cell numbers in the spleen. (C) Measurement of CXCR5^{hi} PD-1^{hi} OT-II cells. (D) Measurement of CXCR5^{hi} Bcl6^{hi} cells. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of three independent experiments. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .0001; n.s. p > .05.

<u>IL-21 signaling is required for IgM and IgG3 in CMV-induced RBC</u> <u>alloimmunization:</u>

Our previous results showed that type 1 IFN signaling was only partially required for anti-RBC antibody responses. We further observed that CD4+ T cells play an essential role in the generation of anti-RBC antibody responses. We therefore set out to explore what CD4+ T cell-derived cytokines might be involved in the generation of anti-RBC antibodies. IL-21 is an important cytokine that is secreted by CD4+ T cells and has previously been shown to regulate antibody production in multiple immunization models.^{78–81} Furthermore, IL-21 is an important cytokine for TFH generation and germinal center B cell differentiation.^{80,82–84}

Given our data that MCMV infection leads to robust CD4+ T cell responses, we hypothesized that IL-21 might play a role in the CMV-driven anti-RBC antibody production. To study the role of IL-21 in anti-RBC antibody generation, WT and IL21R KO mice were infected with MCMV and transfused with HOD RBCs (Figure 2.9A). We first measured the anti-RBC IgM response 1 week post-transfusion. We found that mice deficient in IL21R showed significantly lower anti-RBC IgM levels compared to WT mice (Figure 2.9B). We next measured anti-RBC IgG in both groups of mice. We found that IL21R KO mice had significantly lower total anti-RBC IgG compared to WT (Figure 2.9C). While we did observe lower levels of anti-RBC IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c in IL21R KO mice, it did not reach statistical significance (Figure 2.9D-F). Interestingly, we observed that IL21R KO mice had significantly lower anti-RBC IgG3 levels compared to WT mice (Figure 2.9G). Our

data suggests that IL-21 signaling plays a significant role in the generation of anti-RBC IgM and IgG3.



Figure 2.9: IL-21 is required for anti-HOD IgM and IgG3 in MCMV-driven RBC alloimmunization.

WT and IL-21R KO mice were transfused with HOD RBCs following infection with MCMV. Anti-HOD antibody response was measured at days 7 and 14 post transfusion. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design. (B) Measurement of anti-HOD IgM. (C) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG. (D) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG1. (E) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2b. (F) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HOD IgG3. Bars on plots show median values. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; ****p < .001; ****p < .001;

CMV positivity is associated with RBC alloimmunization in patients:

Given our data showing that murine CMV infections can enhance anti-RBC antibody responses, we investigated if underlying CMV infections at the time of RBC transfusions can impact human RBC alloimmunization. Our collaborators at Leiden University in the Netherlands were able to look in their patient dataset consisting of HSCT patients who had received RBC transfusions. Investigation of this patient dataset revealed that patients who had CMV viremia showed an adjusted RR of 1.91, suggesting a higher risk of RBC alloimmunization (Figure 2.10). This result supports our murine data suggesting that CMV infections can enhance the generation of anti-RBC antibodies.

	RBC Alloimmunization			
	Cases (N (%))	Controls (N (%))	RR (95% CI) *	Adjusted RR (95% CI) †
CMV infection Absent Present	502 (99.4) 3 (0.6)	1,001 (99.1) 9 (0.9)	ref. 0.68 (0.39-1.18)	ref. 1.91 (0.84-4.33)

Figure 2.10: CMV is associated with human RBC alloimmunization.

Association between CMV positivity and RBC alloimmunization was measured in

a patient population primarily comprising of allogeneic HSCT patients.

Discussion:

Given that only a small percentage of transfusion recipients generate anti-RBC antibodies, we set out to understand the underlying factors that might lead to enhanced alloantibody production. Due to the clinical importance of cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections and their coincident occurrence with multiple transfusions, we investigated the impact of acute CMV infections on RBC alloimmunization. Using mouse models, we observed that underlying CMV infections at the time of RBC transfusions led to enhanced anti-RBC IgM, suggesting that CMV infections led to activation of pathways that can support the early wave of anti-RBC IgM. We further observed that CMV infections enhanced total anti-RBC IgG and the various IgG subclasses- IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3. These results are very interesting given that IgG class-switching to one subtype over others is regulated by the cytokine milieu. The effect of CMV infections on anti-RBC IgG suggests that CMV infection leads to the production of a broad range of cytokines that can support class switching to multiple different IgG subclasses.

Given that type 1 IFN signaling is required for poly I:C and influenza-driven anti-RBC antibody production, we tested the role of type 1 IFNs in the CMV model of alloimmunization. We did not observe an impact of IFNAR1 blockade on anti-RBC antibody production. Although anti-RBC IgG2b showed a small, but significant decrease, anti-RBC IgM and IgG responses were largely IFANR1 independent. These results suggest that the cytokine mechanisms regulating anti-RBC antibodies in the context of CMV infections is different from that observed in the poly I:C and influenza models of RBC alloimmunization. We therefore set out

to identify the cytokines that are required for CMV-driven alloimmunization. However, we first identified the cellular players to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms regulating anti-RBC antibody production.

Given the importance of CD4+ T cells in driving class switching in various immunization systems, we studied the role of CD4+ T cells in regulating the CMV-driven anti-RBC response. We observed that CD4+ T cells were not required for anti-RBC IgM production. This is consistent with several reports using various immunization systems and suggests that the B cell production of anti-RBC IgM does not require CD4+ T cell help.^{33,85–88} We did observe that CD4+ T cell depletion led to a near complete abrogation of the total anti-RBC IgG response and anti-RBC IgG subclasses. This is consistent with previous experiments in various immunization models showing that antigen specific IgG responses are largely CD4+ T cell dependent. Although anti-RBC IgG3 was significantly impacted by the loss of CD4+ T cells, we did detect IgG3 above background, suggesting that there might be a CD4+ T cell independent component to the IgG3 response. This is consistent with several reports, where IgG3 is the major IgG subclass that is observed in T-independent antigenic systems.

Given that CD4+ T cells were largely required for anti-RBC antibody IgG production, we tested the impact of CMV infections on RBC-specific CD4+ T cell expansion and differentiation. We observed that CMV infection led to increased expansion of RBC-specific CD4+ T cells. We further observed that CMV infection also enhanced CD4+ T cell differentiation into "helper cells" capable of providing B cell help and drive IgG class switching. These "helper cells" were measured by

expression of CXCR5, PD-1 and Bcl-6. While expression of these proteins have been classically associated with germinal center localized follicular T cells (Tfh), there is evidence suggesting that they are also expressed by activated T cells outside the germinal center (extrafollicular T cells).^{75–77} Therefore, we show that CMV infection drives the generation of RBC-specific CD4+ T cells that differentiate into helper cells that can potentially drive B cell class switching and antibody production. Future studies using microscopy will help in distinguishing between these cell types based on their localization.

Given the key role of CD4+ T cells in anti-RBC IgG production following CMV infections, we hypothesized that CD4+ T cell-derived cytokines might be playing an important role in regulating CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization. We first identified some of the key CD4+ T cell-derived cytokines that can drive antibody production. IL-21 is an important cytokine that is secreted by CD4+ T cells and has previously been shown to regulate antibody production in multiple immunization models.^{78–81} Furthermore, IL-21 is an important cytokine for TFH generation and germinal center B cell differentiation.^{80,82–84} We, therefore set out to investigate the role of IL-21 in regulating anti-RBC antibody responses. Interestingly, we observed that mice deficient in IL-21 signaling showed significantly decreased IgM production. We also observed that IL-21 signaling was partially required for anti-RBC IgG class switching. While IgG3 was dramatically impacted by IL-21R deficiency, the effect on IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c was less dramatic. This is an interesting finding because CD4+ T cell depletion leads to a near complete abrogation of IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c. These experiments suggest that CD4+ T

cell-derived cytokines other than IL-21 might also be playing a role in IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c class switching. In fact, class switching to IgG1 has been shown to be regulated by IL-4 and it's downstream signaling molecule STAT6.^{89–104} Furthermore, previous reports have shown that cytokines such as IL-12 and IFN- γ can induce class switching to IgG2 subtypes.^{105–109} Therefore, it is possible that these cytokines might also regulate class switching to IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c in RBC alloimmunization. Further investigation using blocking antibodies and cytokine deficient mice would help in the interrogation of these pathways.

Given our data showing that murine CMV infections can drive the enhancement of anti-RBC antibody responses, we were very interested in understanding the relevance of human CMV infections in RBC alloimmunization. Our collaborators in the Netherlands looked in patient datasets to ask if CMV viremia during an alloimmunization risk period had an impact on alloimmunization risk. Their data suggested that CMV viremia in their patient dataset was associated with a higher incidence of RBC alloimmunization. These findings are supportive of our data using mouse models and suggest that CMV is associated with increased RBC alloimmunization in mice and humans.

Ours is the first study to investigate the impact of cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections on the development of anti-RBC antibodies in mice and humans. While previous reports have studied RBC alloimmunization in the context of poly I:C and influenza, ours is the first to use a clinically important viral infection model. One of the caveats of our experiments is that we use an acute infection model to study RBC alloimmunization. However, it is important to note that most clinical CMV

cases in HSCT patients receiving RBC transfusions are due to reactivation of latent CMV. Therefore, studying murine CMV reactivation and RBC alloimmunization in the context of immunosuppression would provide a more physiologically accurate model. Interestingly, several studies of CMV reactivation show induction of a similar cytokine profile to acute infection (IL-6, IFN-g, IFN-a, TNF-a).^{110–112} While it is plausible that RBC alloimmunization in acute CMV infection vs CMV reactivation might occur via different mechanisms, we believe that they might be regulated by similar pathways, given similar cytokine profiles. Future studies using models of CMV reactivation could be used to study the impact of CMV reactivation on RBC alloimmunization.

Chapter 3: Class switching is differentially regulated between RBC

alloimmunization and vaccination

This chapter was adapted from: Prakash A, Medved J, Arneja A, Niebuhr C, Li AN, Tarrah S, Boscia AR, Burnett ED, Singh A, Salazar JE, Xu W, Santhanakrishnan M, Hendrickson JE, Luckey CJ. Class switching is differentially regulated in RBC alloimmunization and vaccination.
Transfusion. 2023 Mar 12. doi: 10.1111/trf.17301. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 36907655.

Introduction

Red Blood Cell alloimmunization is a major problem for those patients who require chronic transfusions.¹¹³ Allogenic anti-RBC IgG antibodies can make it difficult to find compatible blood for many patients. For others, production of anti-RBC IgG antibodies can induce delayed hemolytic transfusion reactions (DHTRs) that remain an all too common cause of patient morbidity and mortality.^{3,4} Despite the clinical importance of anti-RBC alloantibodies, we do not completely understand how transfusion of foreign RBCs leads to the production of class-switched IgG antibodies.

IgG antibodies are not homogenous, as individual antibodies are expressed as a particular IgG isotype that has unique effector properties. Expression of different IgG isotypes occurs when B cells are induced to undergo class-switching, a process by which a fixed antigen binding region of the heavy chain locus is rearranged so that it is expressed along with one of four different unique IgG constant regions.⁴⁴ Since each of these constant regions interacts with different effector molecules, class-switching serves as a mechanism to diversify the potential effector functions of a given antibody specificity. Indeed, each IgG isotype has its own unique half-life, serum abundance, affinity for specific Fc receptors, and ability to activate complement. Thus, knowing which isotypes of antibodies predominate in a given immune response can inform you of the potential functional outcome.

Given their functional differences, it is not surprising that the production of specific IgG subclasses is carefully regulated. Though most immune responses

generate antibody class switching to all IgG subclasses, the relative amount of each subclass has been shown to differ as a result of specific immunogenic stimuli.^{114,115} In mouse models, viral infections and mRNA vaccinations predominantly drive class switching to IgG2 subtypes in response to Th1 cytokines such as IFN- γ .^{116–122} Parasitic infections and alum vaccination preferentially drive class-switching to IgG1 in response to Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-13.^{89,121–125} Encapsulated bacteria and pneumococcal vaccines preferentially favor the IgG3 isotype via a largely T cell-independent mechanism.^{126–130} Thus, IgG isotype distributions can provide important information on the specific class of immune stimuli and resultant cytokine signaling pathways that drive a given antibody response.

There are a remarkably limited number of studies that have looked at the relative amounts of IgG subclasses that are generated in patients in response to RBC transfusion, most dating back to the 1960s and 1970s. The majority of these studies focused on either pregnancy related anti-RhD antibodies or RhD negative volunteers who were intentionally immunized and boosted with RhD positive blood.¹³¹ There were however a few studies that looked at patient responses to transfusions.^{41–43} Collectively, the predominant isotypes of anti-RBC alloantibodies generated in response to transfusion are IgG3 and IgG1, while IgG2 and IgG4 were either not detected or present at very low titers in the majority of cases.^{41–43} Interestingly, the observed profile of IgG isotypes identified in patients does not fit well with any clear Th1, Th2 or T-independent profile since in humans, where Th1 favors IgG3 and suppresses IgG1, Th2 favors IgG1 and IgG4 while suppressing

IgG3, and T independent responses favor IgG2.¹³² Thus, it is unclear how selective IgG isotypes are driven in response to transfusion in patients.

In order to better understand the molecular drivers of RBC alloimmunization and the induction of class-switching to IgG, we turned to the experimentally tractable HOD mouse model of RBC alloimmunization. The HOD model is a widely used system to understand mechanisms of storage-dependent RBC alloimmunization. HOD transgenic mice express a fusion protein consisting of Hen Egg Lysozyme (HEL), Ovalbumin (OVA) and human Duffy on the surface of RBCs.⁷⁴ Multiple studies have shown that transfusion of HOD RBCs into recipient mice after storage leads to a class switched anti-HEL IgG response.^{13,133–135} Furthermore, we have previously shown that like most infectious stimuli,¹¹⁴ HOD transfusion into C57BL/6 mice induces an anti-HEL IgG response consisting of all four of the C57BL/6 mouse isotypes: IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3.¹³ However, our understanding of the molecular regulators of transfusion-induced classswitching remains limited.

To measure the relative ability of transfused RBCs to induce a given IgG subtype, we directly compared HOD RBC transfusion with HEL-OVA protein emulsified in Alum. Protein in Alum vaccination is a well-studied immunization model that has served as the gold standard for the study of IgG class switching in mice. This allowed us to compare and contrast the class-switching observed in response to transfusion with that observed in response to Alum vaccination.

To better understand the molecular mechanisms regulating IgG isotype specific class switching in response to RBC transfusion, we further tested the
impact of STAT6 deficiency on class switching to both transfusion and Alum vaccination. STAT6 is a well-known regulator of class switching where, in mice, it supports IgG1 and suppresses IgG2 subtypes.^{89,92–104} Thus, transfusion of STAT6 KO mice allow us to directly test whether the molecular mechanisms that regulate class-switching in response to RBC transfusion are similar or different from those that regulate class-switching in response to protein in Alum vaccination.

Materials and Methods:

<u>Mice:</u> 8-10 weeks old C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratories Strain # 000664) and STAT6 KO mice (described below) were housed at the University of Virginia Animal Care Facility. HOD transgenic mice were maintained on an FVB background as previously described.⁷⁴ HOD transgenic RBCs contain the triple fusion protein of Hen Egg Lysozyme, Ovalbumin and Duffy. All mouse protocols were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees of University of Virginia, Charlottesville.

<u>Murine blood collection and transfusion:</u> Blood from HOD mice was aseptically collected by cardiac puncture into the anticoagulant citrate phosphate dextrose adenine (CPDA-1, Boston Bioproducts IBB-420). The final volume was adjusted to 20% CPDA-1 (v/v). Collected HOD blood was leukoreduced using whole blood cell leukoreduction filter (Pall, AP-4851). Leukoreduced blood was centrifuged at 1200 x g for 10 minutes, adjusted to a final hematocrit of 75% and stored 4°C for 12 days. Recipient mice received 100µl of 75% Hct HOD RBCs intravenously via retroorbital injection.

<u>Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination:</u> For immunizations with Alum/HEL-OVA, mice were administered HEL-OVA (100µg) emulsified in aluminum hydroxide (Alhydrogel, InvivoGen Cat# vac-alu-250) via intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection.

<u>Measurement of anti-HEL antibodies via ELISA:</u> Antibody responses to the Hen egg lysozyme (HEL) portion of the HOD antigen or HEL-OVA were measured by HEL-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), as previously

described.^{13,134} High-binding polystyrene plates (Corning # 9018) were coated for 1 hour at 37°C with 10 µg/ml HEL (Sigma-Aldrich Cat: L6876) in PBS. Plates were then washed (0.05% Tween-20 in PBS) and incubated with blocking buffer (2% BSA and 0.05% Tween-20 in PBS) overnight at 4°C. Sera samples were serially diluted (4-fold dilutions starting at 1:50, diluted 12 times) in blocking buffer and incubated in coated plates for 1 hour at room temperature. Wells were then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with one of the following horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies: goat anti-mouse IgM, goat antimouse IgG, goat anti-mouse IgG1, goat anti-mouse IgG2b, goat anti-mouse IgG2c, goat anti-mouse IgG3 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Codes: 115-035-075, Jackson ImmunoResearch Codes: 115-035-008, Jackson ImmunoResearch Codes: 115-035-205, 115-035-207, 115-035-208, 115-035-209 respectively). Wells were developed using 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate (SeraCare Cat# 52-00-03) and guenched with 2 N H₂SO₄ after 10 min. Optical densities were measured at 450 nm. End-point titers were calculated using GraphPad Prism through interpolation of the cutoff value from the fit of the optical density versus (1/serum dilution) curve for each sample using the "plateau followed by one-phase decay" model. The cutoff value was defined as the average plus 3 standard deviations (SDs) of signals from background wells (i.e., signal values from wells incubated with blocking buffer alone). O.D values that started off below background and unable to be interpolated were assigned a titer value of 100.

<u>Measurement of total serum IgG and IgM:</u> In order to measure total serum IgM and IgG levels in WT and STAT6 KO mice, serum was collected from naïve 8-week-old

mice. Total IgM was measured using IgM mouse uncoated ELISA kit (ThermoFisher Cat: 88-50470-22) and total IgG was measured using IgG (Total) mouse uncoated ELISA kit (ThermoFisher Cat: 88-50400-22). ELISA was performed based on manufacturer's instructions.

Generation of STAT6 KO mice: CRISPR/cas9 genome editing technology was used to generate STAT6 KO mice. Three gRNAs targeting SH2 coding exons were selected using Desktop Genetics (DESKGEN) guide picker.¹³⁶ crRNA, tracrRNA and Cas9 were purchased from IDT (Coralville, Iowa). The crRNA sequences are listed crRNA1-3'-TCCGGAGACAGCGTTTGGTG-5', crRNA2-3'here: AGGTCCCATCTGGCTCATTG-5', crRNA3- 3'-GTGACTCACCATCCTGACCC-5'. crRNA and tracrRNA were diluted to 100 µM in RNase-free microinjection buffer (10mM of Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 0.25mM of EDTA). 3 µl crRNA and 3 µl tracrRNA were mixed and annealed in a thermal cycler by heating the mixture to 95°C for 5 minutes and ramped down to 25°C at 5°C/min. Ribonucleic protein (RNP) complexes were prepared by mixing and incubating Cas9 at 0.2 µg/µl with three crRNA/tracrRNA (1µM) in RNase-free microinjection buffer at 37°C for 10 minutes. Embryos were collected from super-ovulated C57BL/6J females mated with C57BL/6J males. Three RNPs were co-delivered into the fertilized eggs by electroporation using NEPA21 super electroporator (Nepa Gene Co., Ltd. Chiba, Japan) under the following conditions: 2 pulses at 40 V for 3 msec with 50 msec interval for poring phase; 2 pulses at 7 V for 50 msec with 50 msec interval for transferring phase. The electroporated embryos were cultured overnight in KSOM medium (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA) at 37°C and 5% CO2. The next morning,

embryos that had reached the two-cell stage were implanted into the oviducts of pseudopregnant ICR CD-1 mothers (Envigo Order code: 030). Pups born were bred with wildtype C57BL/6J mice and were further bred to generate homozygous knockout mice. Homozygous knockout mice were confirmed by stimulating splenocytes with IL-4 and pSTAT6 was measured by flow cytometry.

Intracellular pSTAT6 staining: To confirm STAT6 KO, mice were euthanized, and spleens were harvested and disrupted mechanically to obtain a splenocyte suspension. Splenocytes were resuspended in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# F2442), 1% sodium pyruvate, 1% non-essential amino acids, 1% Penn Strep, 1% L-Glutamine, 2.5% HEPES and stimulated with 50ng/ml IL-4 (R&D Systems Cat: 404-ML) for 15 minutes at 37°C. Splenocytes were then fixed using 1.6% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed twice with 1x PBS, resuspended in Perm Buffer III (BD Biosciences Cat: 558050) and incubated on ice for 1 hour. Following this, cells were washed three times with FACS buffer (PBS+0.5% BSA+2% FBS+0.1% sodium azide) and stained with the following antibodies for 30 minutes: anti-CD4 PerCP/Cy5.5 (BioLegend Cat: 100540), anti-CD8a Brilliant Violet 510 (BioLegend Cat: 100751), anti-B220 FITC (BioLegend Cat: 103206), anti-STAT6 pY641 Alexa Fluor 647 (BD Biosciences Cat: 558242). Cells were then washed once with FACS buffer and analyzed on Attune NxT flow cytometer. Data were analyzed using FlowJo software.

<u>Measurement of T and B cell numbers:</u> To measure T and B cell numbers, WT and STAT6 KO mice were euthanized, and spleens were harvested. Spleens were mechanically disrupted to obtain a splenocyte suspension. Splenocytes were stained with eBioscience Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 780 (Thermo Fisher Cat# 65-0865-14) in 1x PBS to exclude dead cells. Splenocytes were washed once and stained with the following antibodies for 30 minutes: anti-CD4 Alexa Fluor 488 (BioLegend Cat: 100529), anti-CD8a Brilliant Violet 510 (BioLegend Cat: 100751), anti-CD19 Brilliant Violet 421 (BioLegend Cat: 115538), anti-CD21 PE/Cy7 (BioLegend Cat: 123419), anti-CD23 PE (BioLegend Cat: 101607). Cells were then washed once with FACS buffer and analyzed on Attune NxT flow cytometer. Data were analyzed using FlowJo software.

<u>Statistical Analysis:</u> Graphing of data and statistical analysis were performed using GraphPad Prism software. Mann-Whitney test was done to compare 2 groups. p < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant and assigned *, whereas p < 0.01, p < 0.001, and p < 0.0001 were assigned **, ***, and ****, respectively.

<u>Results:</u>

<u>RBC transfusion induces a different IgG class switching profile than vaccination:</u>

While previous reports have shown that HOD RBC transfusion leads to production of multiple IgG subclasses in mice,¹³ it is unknown whether the classswitching that is induced by transfused RBCs is similar or different to other classswitch inducing stimuli. We therefore compared antibody production to HOD RBCs with protein emulsified in alum, the gold standard to study IgG isotype class switched antibody responses. Since HOD RBCs express a chimeric protein containing both HEL and OVA, we used HEL-OVA protein emulsified in Alum to minimize potential antigen-specific differences. We measured anti-HEL IgM at 7 days post transfusion/immunization and anti-HEL IgG and subtypes 14 days post transfusion/immunization using endpoint titer ELISAs in order to accurately quantify antibody levels (Figure 3.1A). Interestingly, transfused RBCs consistently led to anti-HEL IgM levels that were at least as high than those observed in response to alum vaccination (Figure 3.1B). This stood in stark contrast to anti-HEL total IgG levels, which were consistently several logs lower in response to transfusion relative to vaccination (Figure 3.1C). Both HOD transfusion and Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination led to class switching to each of the four mouse IgG isotypes found in C57BL/6 mice: IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3. However, the relative amounts of antibodies of each subtype differed dramatically between transfusion and vaccination. Relative to vaccination, transfusion with HOD RBCs consistently led to several logs lower anti-HEL IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c titers (Figure 3.1D-F). This stood in stark contrast with IgG3 titers, which failed to

demonstrate consistently reproducible different titers (Figure 3.1G). Our data demonstrate that transfusion with HOD RBCs leads to a unique IgG subtype profile in mice that, relative to Alum vaccination, favors IgG3 at the expense of IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c.

Given the unique isotype profile observed in response to transfusion, we set out to investigate the mechanisms controlling class switching in this system. STAT6 is a signaling molecule that has been shown to differentially regulate IgG isotype class-switching in mice and humans.^{89–104} We therefore set out to test whether STAT6 signaling similarly regulated class-switching in response to both transfusion and vaccination.



Figure 3.1: RBC transfusion induces a different IgG class switching profile than vaccination.

WT (C57BL/6) mice were either transfused with HOD RBCs or immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA. Anti-HEL titers were measured by ELISA at 14 days post transfusion/immunization. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design (B) Anti-HEL IgM (C) Anti-HEL IgG (D) Anti-HEL IgG1 (E) Anti-HEL IgG2b (F) Anti-HEL IgG2c (G) Anti-HEL IgG3. Each data point represents one mouse. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of 3 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001, n.s. p > 0.05.

Generation of STAT6 KO mice:

In order to measure the impact of STAT6's function on class-switching in response to transfusion, we first generated a novel STAT6 KO mouse model using CRISPR/cas9 on a pure C57BL/6 background. Previously generated STAT6 KO mice^{93,137} have used targeting constructs with neomycin resistance cassettes to disrupt STAT6 coding exons.^{93,137} These mice were generated by electroporation into D3 ES cells derived from 129S2/SvPas mouse strain, 93, 137 followed by injection into BALB/c blastocytes and multiple rounds of breeding with C57BL/6 mice to generate STAT6 KO mice on a C57BL/6 background.¹³⁷ This results in a STAT6 deficient mouse that contains not only a neomycin cassette, but also a large swath of tightly linked 129S2 genome surrounding the STAT6 targeted locus. Given the strain specific differences in mice with respect to immune responses¹³⁸ and potential off-target effects of neomycin resistance cassettes, ^{139,140} we believe that our STAT6 KO mouse model on a pure C57BL/6 background better reflects the wild-type C57BL/6 controls used in our experiments. The CRISPR/cas9 system consists of a crRNA/tracrRNA duplex (gRNA) and cas9 protein, an RNA-guided endonuclease. The crRNA part of the complex binds to targeted exons while the tracrRNA guides the cas9 to the targeted locus. Cas9 endonuclease introduces double-stranded breaks in the targeted region, triggering DNA repair pathways via non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). NHEJ introduces insertions and deletions (indels) and can cause frameshift mutations, leading to disruption of the targeted gene. In order to disrupt STAT6 function, we designed gRNAs to target SH2 coding domains of the STAT6 gene (Figure 3.2A, Figure 3.2B). STAT6 SH2 domains are

required for STAT6 dimerization and downstream effector function.^{141–143} crRNA/tracrRNA duplexes were complexed with cas9 protein and electroporated into fertilized eggs from C57BL/6 mice, following previously published approaches.^{144–146} Zygotes were transferred into foster mothers and pups were screened for STAT6 mutations and bred to homozygosity (Figure 3.2A). STAT6 KO homozygous mice were confirmed by stimulating splenocytes with IL-4 and measuring pSTAT6 by flow cytometry within multiple cell populations (Figure 3.2C). We further characterized the numbers of splenic lymphocyte subsets and observed no significant differences in follicular B cells, marginal zone B cells, CD4+ T cells and CD8+ T cells in STAT6 KO mice compared to WT mice (Figure 3.2D). Interestingly, while WT and STAT6 KO mice had similar levels of total IgM, STAT6 KO mice showed elevated levels of total IgG (Figure 3.2E). Our data demonstrate that we have effectively disrupted STAT6 function in our novel STAT6 KO mice.



Figure 3.2: Generation of STAT6 KO mice using CRISPR/cas9 gene editing.

(A) Schematic showing generation of STAT6 KO mice (B) A representative view of the STAT6 targeting strategy showing positions of selected gRNAs (C) pSTAT6 staining measured by flow cytometry following IL-4 stimulation. pSTAT6 in STAT6 KO (dotted line) was compared to WT (solid line). Unstimulated controls are shown using the gray background. (D) Quantification of CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, Follicular B cells and Marginal Zone (MZ) B cells in WT and STAT6 KO spleens. (E) Concentration of total serum IgM and IgG in WT and STAT6 KO mice. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001, n.s. p > 0.05.

STAT6 regulates class switching to all IgG isotypes in Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination:

STAT6 is known to be the key transcription factor responsible for Th2 signaling downstream of IL-4 and IL-13. Since protein in alum vaccinations are well known to be Th2 dominant,⁸⁹ we first hypothesized that IgG isotype switching would be altered significantly in STAT6 deficient mice in response Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination. WT and STAT6 KO mice were immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA and anti-HEL IgM and IgG subclass titers were measured (Figure 3.3A). While total anti-HEL IgG and IgM titers remained similar (Figure 3.3B and Figure 3.3C), STAT6 KO mice had significantly lower anti-HEL IgG1 titers and elevated anti-HEL IgG2b and IgG2c titers compared to WT mice (Figure 3.3D-F), consistent with previous reports.⁸⁹ Interestingly, we found that STAT6 KO mice also had increased anti-HEL IgG3, a novel finding demonstrating that STAT6 also inhibits class switching to IgG3 following Alum/HEL-OVA immunization (Figure 3.3G).



Figure 3.3: STAT6 regulates class switching in response to Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination.

WT and STAT6 KO mice were immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA. Anti-HEL IgG and subtype titers were measured by end point titer ELISAs at 14 days post immunization. (A) Schematic representation of experimental design showing mice immunized with Alum/HEL-OVA (B) Measurement of anti-HEL IgM (C) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG (D) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG1 (E) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG2b (F) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG3. Each data point represents one mouse. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of 3 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001, n.s. p > 0.05.

<u>STAT6 has a minimal impact on class switching to most IgG isotypes in response</u> to HOD transfusion:

In order to determine the impact of STAT6 on transfusion-induced class switching, WT and STAT6 KO mice were transfused with HOD RBCs and anti-HEL antigen specific titers were measured. We found that WT and STAT6 KO mice had similar anti-HEL IgM and IgG titers (Figure 3.4B and Figure 3.4C). We then measured anti-HEL IgG subclass titers 14 days post transfusion. To our surprise, STAT6 deficient mice had similar levels of IgG1, IgG2c and IgG3 in response to HOD transfusion (Figure 3.4D, Figure 3.4F and Figure 3.4G). We also observed that STAT6 KO mice showed increased IgG2b (Figure 3.4E). Collectively, our data demonstrates that transfusion-induced IgG class switching occurs in a largely STAT6-independent manner, suggesting that alternative pathways that are largely STAT6-independent regulate IgG class switching in response to RBC transfusions.



Figure 3.4: STAT6 is mostly not required for class switching in response to HOD RBC transfusion.

WT and STAT6 KO mice were transfused with HOD RBCs. Anti-HEL IgG and subtype titers were measured by end point titer ELISAs at 14 days post transfusion. (A) Schematic of experimental design showing mice transfused with HOD RBCs (B) Measurement of anti-HEL IgM (C) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG (D) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG1 (E) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG2b (F) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG2c (G) Measurement of anti-HEL IgG3. Each data point represents one mouse. Bars on plots show median values. Figure is representative of 3 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, n.s. p > 0.05.

Discussion:

Our data in the HOD mouse model demonstrate that transfusion of HOD RBCs leads to consistent generation of IgG. However, we show that, compared to Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination, HOD RBC transfusion induces similar IgG3 titers but dramatically lower IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c titers. This demonstrates that even though all IgG isotypes are produced in response to transfusion, the levels of a given isotype generated in response to transfused RBCs are different than those generated in response to protein in Alum vaccination.

The comparable level of IgG3 between Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination and HOD RBC transfusion suggests a preference towards IgG3 class switching in transfusion. This is an interesting finding for several reasons. IgG3 has largely been shown to be T-cell independent in mice. However, work in our lab has shown that depletion of CD4+ T cells leads to attenuation of IgG3 in response to HOD RBCs (unpublished), suggesting that there might be T-dependent mechanisms of IgG3 regulation in the HOD transfusion system. Furthermore, IgG3 is a strong activator of complement in mice.¹⁴⁷ Interestingly, previous reports have shown that there is deposition of complement C3 on the surface of HOD RBCs following transfusion.¹⁴⁸ Given the importance of IgG3 in activation of complement pathways, the deposition of C3 on the surface of RBCs might be dependent on IgG3 production. In addition, human IgG3 and IgG1 are also robust activators of complement.^{149,150} In contrast, however, mouse IgG3 shows limited FcyR binding,^{151,152} while human IgG3 and IgG1 can bind to all hFcyRs.^{152,153} The predominance of complement activating/robust FcyR activating IgG isotypes in

human (IgG1 and IgG3) and complement activating/weak FcγR activating isotype in mice (IgG3) suggests both similar as well as divergent mechanisms of RBC alloimmunization between mice and humans.

Given the observed differences in isotype class switching induced by transfusion vs. vaccination, we were interested in determining whether the molecular regulators of class switching might also be different between these immune stimuli. Since STAT6 is a well-known regulator of IgG1 and IgG2 subtype class switching in multiple different vaccination and infectious settings^{89–104}, we created a novel STAT6 deficient mouse model to directly test whether STAT6 played a similar role in regulating isotype class-switching in response to transfusion. We used CRISPR/cas9 to target STAT6 in C57BL/6J embryos and confirmed successful disruption of STAT6 function. These mice represent, to our knowledge, the first STAT6 deficient strain generated on a pure C57BL/6 background. STAT6 deficient mice had similar levels of baseline polyclonal IgM, but elevated levels of baseline polyclonal IgG. This suggests that in response to the normal microflora found in our specific pathogen free (SPF) colony at University of Virginia, STAT6 deficient mice tend to have higher circulating total IgG levels relative to their wild type counterparts.

Having established the baseline polyclonal antibody production in STAT6 KO mice, we next asked what the impact of STAT6 deficiency in the production of antigen-specific antibody production in response Alum/HEL-OVA vaccination. Consistent with previous publications⁸⁹, STAT6 KO mice that were vaccinated with Alum/HEL-OVA expressed similar levels of antigen-specific IgM and antigen-

specific total IgG. Furthermore, STAT6 KO mice expressed lower levels of antigenspecific IgG1 while expressing significantly elevated levels of antigen-specific IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3 subclasses in response to Alum vaccination. These data demonstrate that STAT6 plays a significant role in the relative class switching to all IgG isotypes in response to Alum vaccination, supporting IgG1 antigen-specific antibody production while suppressing IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3 antigen-specific antibody production.

Importantly, STAT6 deficiency had a much different impact on antigenspecific IgG subclass production in response to transfused RBCs. Unlike what was observed in response to Alum vaccination; anti-RBC IgG1, IgG2c and IgG3 levels were not consistently or robustly different between wild type mice and STAT6 KO mice. While anti-RBC IgG2c levels did trend somewhat lower, they failed to consistently show a significant difference. We did however observe a small but reproducible enhancement in IgG2b levels in absence of STAT6. Thus, our data demonstrate that STAT6 clearly suppressed IgG2b (and to some degree IgG2c) class-switching in response to transfusion. However, there was no significant impact on anti-RBC IgG1 and IgG3 production in STAT6 deficient mice. This demonstrates that the molecular regulation of the antigen-specific IgG1 and IgG3 class-switching in response to transfusion is quite different from that induced by Alum vaccination.

There are several potential mechanisms that might account for the differences that we observed between HEL/OVA in Alum vaccination and HOD RBC transfusion. One potential explanation for the differences we observe may be

associated with differences in antigen doses between HEL/OVA in Alum vaccination and HOD transfusion. Although certainly a possibility, we do not favor antigen dose differences as a major explanation for our results for several reasons. First, experiments in our lab using a range of varying doses of HOD RBCs showed no significant drop-off in antibody titers for the doses tested (data not shown). Second, significant variation in the dose of Alum/HEL-OVA had only a small effect on overall titers and did not impact isotype distribution (data not shown). Thus, we do not think that intrinsic differences in antigen dosing account for the differences in class switching observed.

Another potential difference that might account for our observed differences in class-switching is the different route of antigen exposure: with the vaccination given intra-peritoneally (i.p.) while the transfusion is given intravenously (i.v.). Importantly, direct comparisons of Alum and transfusion are not possible since Alum cannot be given i.v. in mice due to toxicity, and i.p. transfusion of HOD RBCs fails to generate any measurable anti-RBC alloantibodies (data not shown). However, we do not think that the route of exposure accounts for the differences we observed since Alum used via other routes (intra-muscularly) gives similar results to i.p., and i.v. protein vaccination with i.v.-compatible adjuvants such as the Sigma Adjuvant System show similar robust induction to IgG1 and IgG2 subclasses relative to IgG3 to what we have observed in the i.p. Alum setting (data not shown). Furthermore, STAT6 controls IgG1 antigen-specific class switching to multiple different infectious agents that infect multiple different sites, including intestinal helminth infection,^{91,154} intranasal pox viral vaccination,¹⁰⁴ and upper

respiratory flu viral infection.¹⁵⁵ Thus we believe that the i.p. vaccination gives similar results to vaccination and infection at many other sites. However, it is certainly possible that i.v. exposure to antigens that occurs via transfusion may account for some of the observed differences in class switching. Importantly, RBC transfusions, by definition entail i.v. antigen exposure via RBCs, and thus our model accurately depicts the unique properties of transfusion-associated induction of class-switching.

Though route of immunization and antigen dosing are potential explanations for the differences in IgG class-switching we have observed, we favor the hypothesis that antigens presented on transfused RBCs represent a unique costimulatory signal to the immune system. This is particularly true when sterile RBCs are transfused in the absence of exogenous adjuvants as is the case for our studies herein and for most clinical transfusions. We have used HEL/OVA in Alum vaccination as a comparator in our studies because protein in Alum vaccination has long served as the gold standard for the scientific study of class-switching, and protein in Alum vaccination continues to be the vaccine approach used in most childhood vaccines. Importantly, HEL/OVA in Alum vaccination faithfully represents the vast majority of the published data looking at infectious and vaccine induced class-switching in so far as STAT6 clearly supporting IgG1 class-switching and suppressing IgG2 isotype class switching. The key point here that we would like to emphasize is not that the IgG class-switching induced by transfusion is different from the IgG class-switching induced by HEL/OVA in Alum per se, but rather that the class-switching induced by transfusion is different from virtually

every other infectious and adjuvant-based system that we have looked at and that has been studied (Alum included). Ultimately, we hypothesize that foreign antigens that are expressed on transfused RBCs stimulate the immune system in a unique manner relative to most other vaccination or infectious stimuli, driving a relatively robust IgG3 response but dramatically weaker IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c responses. Our data herein demonstrate that STAT6 fails to play a significant role in the production of most of the class-switched IgG antibodies generated in response to HOD transfusion, and certainly not IgG3 and IgG1. Given the unique nature of the IgG class switching observed in response to transfusion, we are particularly interested in future experiments aimed at understanding both the cellular and molecular regulators of IgG production in response to RBC-expressed foreign antigens.

Chapter 4: Discussion and Future Directions

This study was done to address some of the key questions that were identified in Chapter 1.

<u>Do clinically relevant infections such as cytomegalovirus have an impact on</u> <u>RBC alloimmunization?</u>

Given that the vast majority of transfusion recipients do not generate anti-RBC antibodies, we aimed to understand the underlying risk factors that drive RBC alloimmunization. We first set out to study the impact of clinically relevant infections like cytomegalovirus (CMV) on RBC alloimmunization. We found that murine CMV infections led to enhancement of anti-RBC antibody responses. We further showed that this enhancement did not require type 1 IFN signaling, a surprising finding, given that type 1 IFNs were required for poly I:C and influenza-driven RBC alloimmunization. We further showed that IL-21 was only partially required for anti-RBC antibody production following MCMV infection. In addition, we found that the antibody response was mostly dependent on CD4+ T cells and observed that MCMV infection led to increased expansion of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells and enhanced differentiation into "helper cells" that could potentially provide help to cognate B cells and drive antibody production. In addition to our work in mice, patient data from our collaborators in the Netherlands suggested that CMV infections can increase RBC alloimmunization risk in patients, supporting our mouse data. Taken together, our data shows that clinically relevant infections such as CMV can lead to enhancement of RBC alloimmunization. Ours is the first study to show that CMV infections can lead to enhancement of anti-RBC antibody responses in mice and that is correlated with increased RBC alloimmunization in human patients.

<u>What is the relative IgG subclass abundance and distribution in RBC</u> <u>alloimmunization?</u>

Another question that we addressed in this study was the characterization of the anti-RBC antibody response. We, therefore, set out to study the relative abundance of IgG subclasses and their distribution in RBC alloimmunization. By comparing the anti-RBC antibody response to antibody responses generated to vaccines, we were able to characterize the anti-RBC IgG response. We observed that transfusion of RBCs led to the generation of anti-RBC IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3. We further found that IgG1, IgG2b and IgG2c were several folds lower in RBC transfusion compared to Alum vaccination. Interestingly, however, anti-RBC IgG3 levels were similar compared to alum vaccination.

<u>What are the molecular regulators of anti-RBC lgG subclasses and how do</u> <u>they differ from antibody responses to vaccination?</u>

Our previous findings prompted us to further investigate the molecular mechanisms regulating the anti-RBC IgG response. STAT6 is a transcription factor that regulates IgG production by controlling IgG1 vs IgG2 class switching in various immunization systems, including Alum vaccination models. We therefore tested if STAT6 played a role in the regulation of IgG class switching to transfused RBCs. We first studied the impact of STAT6 on IgG class switching in an alum vaccination setting. Consistent with previous reports, we observed that STAT6 regulated class

switching to IgG1 and IgG2 subtypes, with STAT6 KO mice having lower IgG1 titers and elevated IgG2b and IgG2c titers compared to WT mice. Interestingly, we also observed that STAT6 KO mice had elevated IgG3 titers, a novel finding in the alum vaccination system. We then tested the role of STAT6 in response to transfused RBCs. In contrast to the alum vaccination model, STAT6 KO mice had similar IgG1, IgG2c and IgG3, while demonstrating a small increase in IgG2b in response to RBC transfusion. Our data herein demonstrate that STAT6 fails to play a significant role in the production of most of the class-switched IgG antibodies generated in response to RBC transfusion, and certainly not IgG3 and IgG1. Given the unique nature of the IgG class switching observed in response to transfusion, we are particularly interested in future experiments aimed at understanding both the cellular and molecular regulators of IgG production in response to RBC-expressed foreign antigens.

Taken together, our study fills some major gaps in our knowledge and understanding of RBC alloimmunization. We now have a better understanding of underlying infections that can have an impact on RBC alloimmunization. Furthermore, this is the first study to carefully characterize the anti-RBC IgG response and compare it to a well-studied immunization model like alum vaccination. Additionally, we also provide insight into how canonical classswitching regulators like STAT6 might not play a significant role in RBC alloimmunization. However, there are still several unanswered questions that remain. We still do not understand how anti-RBC CD4+ T cells and B cells respond to RBC transfusions, in terms of their localization and differentiation state. In

addition to the cellular mechanisms, we still do not understand all the molecular regulators of the anti-RBC antibody response. Future experiments will address these questions, in an effort to improve our understanding of RBC alloimmunization.

Future Directions:

CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization

While we have shown that MCMV infections can increase the immunogenicity of RBC transfusion, future studies are needed to investigate cytokine and cellular mechanisms that might regulate the anti-RBC antibody response. Here are some potential questions that might explored in future experiments:

<u>How does CMV infection enhance the innate immune response leading to</u> <u>increased anti-RBC antibody production?</u>

While we now understand that CMV infections can lead to increased anti-RBC antibody production, we still do not understand how CMV infections might lead to enhancement of innate immune cells. Innate cells such as bridging channel DCs (cDC2s) in the spleen have been implicated in RBC uptake and CD4+ T cell activation in the storage induced HOD model of RBC alloimmunization. Future experiments can investigate the impact of CMV infections and HOD transfusion on DC maturation by measuring the expression of activation markers such as CD80, CD86, among others. Furthermore, purification of cDC2s post-transfusion, and coculture with naïve OT-II cells can inform us about the potential of these DCs to stimulate anti-RBC CD4+ T cells. This can further be confirmed by performing adoptive transfers of naïve OT-II cells in mice that lack cDC2s. These experiments can be done to further our understanding of innate cellular players that might be regulating anti-RBC antibody production.

<u>What is the requirement of follicular B cells vs marginal zone B cells in CMV</u> <u>mediated RBC alloimmunization?</u>

Our data in Chapter 2 shows that CMV infections leads to increased production of anti-RBC antibodies. However, we still have not identified the source of these antibodies. Previous data in the stored HOD system have shown that anti-RBC antibodies require MZ B cells and that follicular B cells are dispensable. Experiments using depleting antibodies and knockout mice can be done to determine the source of anti-RBC antibodies in the CMV-driven RBC alloimmunization model. This will further inform us about the function and relevance of follicular B cells and marginal zone B cells in RBC alloimmunization.

<u>Where do anti-RBC CD4+ T cells and B cells localize in CMV-driven RBC</u> <u>alloimmunization?</u>

Our OT-II adoptive transfer experiments show that CMV infection leads to expansion of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells in the spleen and that these cells can differentiate into cells that can provide help to cognate B cells. However, these helper cells represent a heterogeneous subset of T cells that can help B cells in the follicle (germinal center Tfh cells) or in the extrafollicular spaces (extrafollicular T cells). Microscopic analysis of the spleen following adoptive transfers of antiRBC CD4+ T cells can be done to study the localization of these cells, further informing us about the differentiation state of anti-RBC CD4+ T cells.

What cytokines regulate anti-RBC antibody production following CMV infection?

Our data shows that type 1 IFNs are mostly not required, and that IL-21 is only partially required for anti-RBC antibody responses following CMV infection. These results suggest that other cytokines are playing a role in regulating anti-RBC antibody production. Cytokines such as IL-12 and IFN-γ have been previously shown to regulate class switching to IgG2 subtypes in various viral infection models. In addition, IL-4 has been shown to control IgG1 class switching. The role of these cytokines can be investigated in the CMV setting using blocking antibodies and knockout mice.

<u>Do physiological models of CMV reactivation lead to enhancement of anti-RBC</u> <u>antibodies?</u>

Our experiments make use of an acute CMV infection model. However, most cases of CMV in HSCT patients occurs as a result of re-activation of the latent virus. Therefore, in order to study RBC alloimmunization in a clinically relevant CMV model, future experiments will use CMV reactivation models to study molecular and cellular mechanisms.



Figure 4.1: Schematic showing outstanding questions (in red) that will be answered in future experiments

Storage dependent RBC alloimmunization

What cytokines regulate anti-RBC class switching in the stored HOD model?

Our data in Chapter 3 shows that transfusions of stored HOD RBCs leads to production of all IgG subtypes: IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c and IgG3. However, we further show that STAT6 (a known regulator of IgG1) is not required for IgG1 class switching in the HOD transfusion system. While these results are surprising, they open up further questions about what cytokines might be regulating the IgG response. Given the requirement of CD4+ T cells in regulating class switching in the HOD system, we hypothesize that T cell-derived cytokines might be regulating class-switching. We can identify these cytokines by adoptively transferring naïve OT-II cells and transfusing the recipients with HOD RBCs. These OT-II cells can then be purified and RNAseq or RT-PCR can be done to study the cytokine genes that are expressed. This can give us cytokine targets that can be further studied using knockout mice or blocking antibodies. These experiments can help us understand the cytokines that might be regulating the IgG response to HOD RBCs.

<u>How do CD4+ T cells help MZ B cells and induce class switching?</u>

While previous reports have shown that CD4+ T cells and MZ B cells are required for anti-HOD IgG production, it remains unknown how CD4+ T cells provide help to MZ B cells in the HOD system. Understanding the cytokines that regulate the alloantibody response to HOD RBCs can help us study the role of cytokine help in antibody production by marginal zone B cells. MZ B cell-specific knockouts for cytokine receptors can be used to study the role of cytokine help in

marginal zone B cell activation and antibody production. We can further study the differentiation of MZ B cells into plasmablasts or long-lived plasma cells.

Where do HOD-specific CD4+ T cells localize following RBC transfusion?

Previous experiments have shown that in an adoptive transfer setting, OT-II cells can express CXCR5 and Bcl-6 following transfusion of stored HOD RBCs. However, the exact location of these cells has not been previously studied. Using microscopy studies, we can investigate the location of these transferred CD4+ T cells. This will allow us to study if anti-HOD CD4+ T cells form germinal center localized Tfh cells or extrafollicular T cells.




Chapter 5: References

- 1. Tormey CA, Stack G. The persistence and evanescence of blood group alloantibodies in men. Transfusion. 2009 Mar;49(3):505–12.
- Alves VM, Martins PRJ, Soares S, Araújo G, Schmidt LC, Costa SS de M, et al. Alloimmunization screening after transfusion of red blood cells in a prospective study. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter. 2012;34(3):206–11.
- Zimring JC, Spitalnik SL. Pathobiology of transfusion reactions. Annu Rev Pathol. 2015;10:83–110.
- 4. Thein SL, Pirenne F, Fasano RM, Habibi A, Bartolucci P, Chonat S, et al. Hemolytic transfusion reactions in sickle cell disease: underappreciated and potentially fatal. Haematologica. 2020 Mar;105(3):539–44.
- Amanna IJ. Duration of Humoral Immunity to Common Viral and Vaccine Antigens. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2007;13.
- Zimring JC, Hudson KE. Cellular immune responses in red blood cell alloimmunization. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2016 Dec 2;2016(1):452–6.
- Dean L. Blood Groups and Red Cell Antigens [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): National Center for Biotechnology Information (US); 2005. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2261/

- Hod EA, Arinsburg SA, Francis RO, Hendrickson JE, Zimring JC, Spitalnik SL. Use of mouse models to study the mechanisms and consequences of RBC clearance. Vox Sang. 2010 Aug 1;99(2):99–111.
- Desmarets M, Cadwell CM, Peterson KR, Neades R, Zimring JC. Minor histocompatibility antigens on transfused leukoreduced units of red blood cells induce bone marrow transplant rejection in a mouse model. Blood. 2009 Sep 10;114(11):2315–22.
- Hendrickson JE, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Hillyer CD, Zimring JC. Storage of murine red blood cells enhances alloantibody responses to an erythroidspecific model antigen. Transfusion. 2010 Mar;50(3):642–8.
- 11. Arneja A, Salazar JE, Jiang W, Hendrickson JE, Zimring JC, Luckey CJ. Interleukin-6 receptor-alpha signaling drives anti-RBC alloantibody production and T-follicular helper cell differentiation in a murine model of red blood cell alloimmunization. Haematologica. 2016 Nov;101(11):e440–4.
- Calabro S, Gallman A, Gowthaman U, Liu D, Chen P, Liu J, et al. Bridging channel dendritic cells induce immunity to transfused red blood cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2016 May 16;213(6):887–96.
- 13. Medved J, Knott BM, Tarrah SN, Li AN, Shah N, Moscovich TC, et al. The lysophospholipid-binding molecule CD1D is not required for the alloimmunization response to fresh or stored RBCs in mice despite RBC

storage driving alterations in lysophospholipids. Transfusion. 2021 Jul;61(7):2169–78.

- Liu D, Gibb DR, Escamilla-Rivera V, Liu J, Santhanakrishnan M, Shi Z, et al. Type I IFN signaling critically regulates influenza-induced alloimmunization to transfused KEL RBCs in a murine model. Transfusion. 2019 Oct;59(10):3243–52.
- Gibb DR, Liu J, Natarajan P, Santhanakrishnan M, Madrid DJ, Eisenbarth SC, et al. Type I IFN Is Necessary and Sufficient for Inflammation-Induced Red Blood Cell Alloimmunization in Mice. The Journal of Immunology. 2017 Aug 1;199(3):1041–50.
- Hendrickson JE, Roback JD, Hillyer CD, Easley KA, Zimring JC. Discrete Toll-like receptor agonists have differential effects on alloimmunization to transfused red blood cells. Transfusion. 2008 Sep;48(9):1869–77.
- Evers D, van der Bom JG, Tijmensen J, Middelburg RA, de Haas M,
 Zalpuri S, et al. Red cell alloimmunisation in patients with different types of infections. Br J Haematol. 2016 Dec;175(5):956–66.
- Roback JD. Perspectives on the impact of storage duration on blood quality and transfusion outcomes. Vox Sang. 2016 Nov;111(4):357–64.
- Yoshida T, Prudent M, D'alessandro A. Red blood cell storage lesion: causes and potential clinical consequences. Blood Transfus. 2019 Jan;17(1):27–52.

- Hendrickson JE, Tormey CA. Understanding red blood cell alloimmunization triggers. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program.
 2016 Dec 2;2016(1):446–51.
- Dinardo CL, Fernandes FLA, Sampaio LR, Sabino EC, Mendrone A. Transfusion of older red blood cell units, cytokine burst and alloimmunization: a case-control study. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter. 2015;37(5):320–3.
- Zalpuri S, Schonewille H, Middelburg R, van de Watering L, de Vooght K, Zimring J, et al. Effect of storage of red blood cells on alloimmunization. Transfusion. 2013 Nov;53(11):2795–800.
- Yazer MH, Triulzi DJ. Receipt of older RBCs does not predispose Dnegative recipients to anti-D alloimmunization. Am J Clin Pathol. 2010 Sep;134(3):443–7.
- Desai PC, Deal AM, Pfaff ER, Qaqish B, Hebden LM, Park YA, et al.
 Alloimmunization is associated with older age of transfused red blood cells in sickle cell disease. Am J Hematol. 2015 Aug;90(8):691–5.
- Maier CL, Jajosky RP, Patel SR, Verkerke HP, Fuller MD, Allen JW, et al. Storage differentially impacts alloimmunization to distinct red cell antigens following transfusion in mice. Transfusion. 2023 Jan 27;
- Hendrickson JE, Saakadze N, Cadwell CM, Upton JW, Mocarski ES, Hillyer
 CD, et al. The spleen plays a central role in primary humoral

alloimmunization to transfused mHEL red blood cells. Transfusion. 2009 Aug;49(8):1678–84.

- 27. Evers D, van der Bom JG, Tijmensen J, de Haas M, Middelburg RA, de Vooght KMK, et al. Absence of the spleen and the occurrence of primary red cell alloimmunization in humans. Haematologica. 2017 Aug;102(8):e289–92.
- Cerutti A, Cols M, Puga I. Marginal zone B cells: virtues of innate-like antibody-producing lymphocytes. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013 Feb;13(2):118– 32.
- You Y, Myers RC, Freeberg L, Foote J, Kearney JF, Justement LB, et al. Marginal zone B cells regulate antigen capture by marginal zone macrophages. J Immunol. 2011 Feb 15;186(4):2172–81.
- Cinamon G, Zachariah MA, Lam OM, Foss FW, Cyster JG. Follicular shuttling of marginal zone B cells facilitates antigen transport. Nat Immunol. 2008 Jan;9(1):54–62.
- Attanavanich K, Kearney JF. Marginal zone, but not follicular B cells, are potent activators of naive CD4 T cells. J Immunol. 2004 Jan 15;172(2):803–11.
- Martin F, Kearney JF. Marginal-zone B cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002 May;2(5):323–35.

- Zerra PE, Patel SR, Jajosky RP, Arthur CM, McCoy JW, Allen JWL, et al. Marginal zone B cells mediate a CD4 T-cell-dependent extrafollicular antibody response following RBC transfusion in mice. Blood. 2021 Aug 26;138(8):706–21.
- Patel SR, Gibb DR, Girard-Pierce K, Zhou X, Rodrigues LC, Arthur CM, et al. Marginal Zone B Cells Induce Alloantibody Formation Following RBC Transfusion. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2516.
- Soldatenko A, Hoyt LR, Xu L, Calabro S, Lewis SM, Gallman AE, et al. Innate and Adaptive Immunity to Transfused Allogeneic RBCs in Mice Requires MyD88. J Immunol. 2022 Feb 15;208(4):991–7.
- 36. Mener A, Patel SR, Arthur CM, Chonat S, Wieland A, Santhanakrishnan M, et al. Complement serves as a switch between CD4+ T cell-independent and -dependent RBC antibody responses. JCI Insight. 2018 Nov 15;3(22):e121631, 121631.
- Kopf M, Herren S, Wiles MV, Pepys MB, Kosco-Vilbois MH. Interleukin 6 influences germinal center development and antibody production via a contribution of C3 complement component. J Exp Med. 1998 Nov 16;188(10):1895–906.
- 38. González-García I, Ocaña E, Jiménez-Gómez G, Campos-Caro A, Brieva JA. Immunization-induced perturbation of human blood plasma cell pool: progressive maturation, IL-6 responsiveness, and high PRDI-BF1/BLIMP1

expression are critical distinctions between antigen-specific and nonspecific plasma cells. J Immunol. 2006 Apr 1;176(7):4042–50.

- Crotty S. T Follicular Helper Cell Biology: A Decade of Discovery and Diseases. Immunity. 2019 May 21;50(5):1132–48.
- 40. Vinuesa CG, Linterman MA, Yu D, MacLennan ICM. Follicular Helper T Cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016 May 20;34:335–68.
- Szymanski IO, Huff SR, Delsignore R. An autoanalyzer test to determine immunoglobulin class and IgG subclass of blood group antibodies.
 Transfusion. 1982 Apr;22(2):90–5.
- Mattila PS, Seppälä IJ, Eklund J, Mäkelä O. Quantitation of immunoglobulin classes and subclasses in anti-Rh (D) antibodies. Vox Sang. 1985;48(6):350–6.
- 43. Michaelsen TE, Kornstad L. IgG subclass distribution of anti-Rh, anti-Kell and anti-Duffy antibodies measured by sensitive haemagglutination assays.
 Clin Exp Immunol. 1987 Mar;67(3):637–45.
- 44. Stavnezer J, Guikema JEJ, Schrader CE. Mechanism and regulation of class switch recombination. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:261–92.
- 45. Escamilla-Rivera V, Liu J, Gibb DR, Santhanakrishnan M, Liu D, Forsmo JE, et al. Poly(I:C) causes failure of immunoprophylaxis to red blood cells

expressing the KEL glycoprotein in mice. Blood. 2020 May 28;135(22):1983–93.

- Iwasaki A, Pillai PS. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014 May;14(5):315–28.
- Matsumoto M, Kikkawa S, Kohase M, Miyake K, Seya T. Establishment of a monoclonal antibody against human Toll-like receptor 3 that blocks doublestranded RNA-mediated signaling. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002 May 24;293(5):1364–9.
- Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA. Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-κB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature. 2001 Oct;413(6857):732–8.
- 49. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, et al. The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol. 2004 Jul;5(7):730–7.
- Chow JC, Young DW, Golenbock DT, Christ WJ, Gusovsky F. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. J Biol Chem. 1999 Apr 16;274(16):10689–92.
- 51. Turianová L, Lachová V, Svetlíkova D, Kostrábová A, Betáková T. Comparison of cytokine profiles induced by nonlethal and lethal doses of influenza A virus in mice. Exp Ther Med. 2019 Dec;18(6):4397–405.

- Conn CA, McClellan JL, Maassab HF, Smitka CW, Majde JA, Kluger MJ.
 Cytokines and the acute phase response to influenza virus in mice. Am J
 Physiol. 1995 Jan;268(1 Pt 2):R78-84.
- 53. Rutigliano JA, Sharma S, Morris MY, Oguin TH, McClaren JL, Doherty PC, et al. Highly pathological influenza A virus infection is associated with augmented expression of PD-1 by functionally compromised virus-specific CD8+ T cells. J Virol. 2014 Feb;88(3):1636–51.
- 54. Wu J, Huang S, Zhao X, Chen M, Lin Y, Xia Y, et al. Poly(I:C) treatment leads to interferon-dependent clearance of hepatitis B virus in a hydrodynamic injection mouse model. J Virol. 2014 Sep;88(18):10421–31.
- 55. Salem ML, El-Naggar SA, Kadima A, Gillanders WE, Cole DJ. The adjuvant effects of the toll-like receptor 3 ligand polyinosinic-cytidylic acid poly (I:C) on antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses are partially dependent on NK cells with the induction of a beneficial cytokine milieu. Vaccine. 2006 Jun 12;24(24):5119–32.
- 56. Harris P, Sridhar S, Peng R, Phillips JE, Cohn RG, Burns L, et al. Doublestranded RNA induces molecular and inflammatory signatures that are directly relevant to COPD. Mucosal Immunol. 2013 May;6(3):474–84.
- Seemann S, Zohles F, Lupp A. Comprehensive comparison of three different animal models for systemic inflammation. J Biomed Sci. 2017 Dec;24(1):60.

- Tateda K, Matsumoto T, Miyazaki S, Yamaguchi K. Lipopolysaccharideinduced lethality and cytokine production in aged mice. Infect Immun. 1996 Mar;64(3):769–74.
- Szomolanyi-Tsuda E, Liang X, Welsh RM, Kurt-Jones EA, Finberg RW.
 Role for TLR2 in NK cell-mediated control of murine cytomegalovirus in vivo. J Virol. 2006 May;80(9):4286–91.
- Compton T, Kurt-Jones EA, Boehme KW, Belko J, Latz E, Golenbock DT, et al. Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. J Virol. 2003 Apr;77(8):4588–96.
- Zucchini N, Bessou G, Traub S, Robbins SH, Uematsu S, Akira S, et al.
 Cutting Edge: Overlapping Functions of TLR7 and TLR9 for Innate Defense against a Herpesvirus Infection. J Immunol. 2008 May 1;180(9):5799–803.
- 62. Tabeta K, Georgel P, Janssen E, Du X, Hoebe K, Crozat K, et al. Toll-like receptors 9 and 3 as essential components of innate immune defense against mouse cytomegalovirus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004 Mar 9;101(10):3516–21.
- Lio CWJ, McDonald B, Takahashi M, Dhanwani R, Sharma N, Huang J, et al. cGAS-STING Signaling Regulates Initial Innate Control of Cytomegalovirus Infection. Longnecker RM, editor. J Virol. 2016 Sep;90(17):7789–97.

- 64. Tegtmeyer PK, Spanier J, Borst K, Becker J, Riedl A, Hirche C, et al. STING induces early IFN-β in the liver and constrains myeloid cellmediated dissemination of murine cytomegalovirus. Nat Commun. 2019 Dec;10(1):2830.
- Nguyen KB, Salazar-Mather TP, Dalod MY, Van Deusen JB, Wei X qing, Liew FY, et al. Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-alpha beta, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. J Immunol. 2002 Oct 15;169(8):4279–87.
- 66. Ruzek MC, Miller AH, Opal SM, Pearce BD, Biron CA. Characterization of early cytokine responses and an interleukin (IL)-6-dependent pathway of endogenous glucocorticoid induction during murine cytomegalovirus infection. J Exp Med. 1997 Apr 7;185(7):1185–92.
- 67. Orange JS, Biron CA. Characterization of early IL-12, IFN-alphabeta, and TNF effects on antiviral state and NK cell responses during murine cytomegalovirus infection. J Immunol. 1996 Jun 15;156(12):4746–56.
- Orange JS, Biron CA. An absolute and restricted requirement for IL-12 in natural killer cell IFN-gamma production and antiviral defense. Studies of natural killer and T cell responses in contrasting viral infections. J Immunol. 1996 Feb 1;156(3):1138–42.
- 69. Dalod M, Salazar-Mather TP, Malmgaard L, Lewis C, Asselin-Paturel C, Brière F, et al. Interferon alpha/beta and interleukin 12 responses to viral

infections: pathways regulating dendritic cell cytokine expression in vivo. J Exp Med. 2002 Feb 18;195(4):517–28.

- 70. Evers D, Zwaginga JJ, Tijmensen J, Middelburg RA, de Haas M, de Vooght KMK, et al. Treatments for hematologic malignancies in contrast to those for solid cancers are associated with reduced red cell alloimmunization. Haematologica. 2017 Jan;102(1):52–9.
- 71. Abou-Elella AA, Camarillo TA, Allen MB, Barclay S, Pierce JA, Holland HK, et al. Low incidence of red cell and HLA antibody formation by bone marrow transplant patients. Transfusion. 1995;35(11):931–5.
- 72. de La Rubia J, Arriaga F, Andreu R, Sanz G, Jiménez C, Vicente A, et al. Development of non-ABO RBC alloantibodies in patients undergoing allogeneic HPC transplantation. Is ABO incompatibility a predisposing factor? Transfusion. 2001 Jan;41(1):106–10.
- 73. Perseghin P, Balduzzi A, Galimberti S, Dassi M, Baldini V, Valsecchi MG, et al. Red blood cell support and alloimmunization rate against erythrocyte antigens in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2003 Jul 1;32(2):231–6.
- 74. Desmarets M, Cadwell CM, Peterson KR, Neades R, Zimring JC. Minor histocompatibility antigens on transfused leukoreduced units of red blood cells induce bone marrow transplant rejection in a mouse model. Blood. 2009 Sep 10;114(11):2315–22.

- Odegard JM, Marks BR, DiPlacido LD, Poholek AC, Kono DH, Dong C, et
 al. ICOS-dependent extrafollicular helper T cells elicit IgG production via IL 21 in systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2008 Nov 24;205(12):2873–86.
- 76. Lee SK, Rigby RJ, Zotos D, Tsai LM, Kawamoto S, Marshall JL, et al. B cell priming for extrafollicular antibody responses requires Bcl-6 expression by T cells. J Exp Med. 2011 Jul 4;208(7):1377–88.
- 77. Elsner RA, Ernst DN, Baumgarth N. Single and coexpression of CXCR4 and CXCR5 identifies CD4 T helper cells in distinct lymph node niches during influenza virus infection. J Virol. 2012 Jul;86(13):7146–57.
- 78. Sakuraba K, Oyamada A, Fujimura K, Spolski R, Iwamoto Y, Leonard WJ, et al. Interleukin-21 signaling in B cells, but not in T cells, is indispensable for the development of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. Arthritis Res Ther. 2016 Aug 17;18:188.
- Stumhofer JS, Silver JS, Hunter CA. IL-21 is required for optimal antibody production and T cell responses during chronic Toxoplasma gondii infection. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e62889.
- Linterman MA, Beaton L, Yu D, Ramiscal RR, Srivastava M, Hogan JJ, et al. IL-21 acts directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. J Exp Med. 2010 Feb 15;207(2):353–63.

- Ozaki K, Spolski R, Feng CG, Qi CF, Cheng J, Sher A, et al. A critical role for IL-21 in regulating immunoglobulin production. Science. 2002 Nov 22;298(5598):1630–4.
- Gonzalez DG, Cote CM, Patel JR, Smith CB, Zhang Y, Nickerson KM, et al. Nonredundant Roles of IL-21 and IL-4 in the Phased Initiation of Germinal Center B Cells and Subsequent Self-Renewal Transitions. The Journal of Immunology. 2018 Dec 15;201(12):3569–79.
- 83. Bessa J, Kopf M, Bachmann MF. Cutting edge: IL-21 and TLR signaling regulate germinal center responses in a B cell-intrinsic manner. J Immunol. 2010 May 1;184(9):4615–9.
- 84. Dvorscek AR, McKenzie CI, Robinson MJ, Ding Z, Pitt C, O'Donnell K, et al. IL-21 has a critical role in establishing germinal centers by amplifying early B cell proliferation. EMBO Rep. 2022 Sep 5;23(9):e54677.
- 85. Wang LC, Kao CM, Ling P, Su IJ, Chang TM, Chen SH. CD4 T-cellindependent antibody response reduces enterovirus 71 lethality in mice by decreasing tissue viral loads. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:580696.
- Sha Z, Compans RW. Induction of CD4(+) T-cell-independent immunoglobulin responses by inactivated influenza virus. J Virol. 2000 Jun;74(11):4999–5005.

- 87. Hess C, Winkler A, Lorenz AK, Holecska V, Blanchard V, Eiglmeier S, et al.
 T cell-independent B cell activation induces immunosuppressive sialylated
 IgG antibodies. J Clin Invest. 2013 Sep;123(9):3788–96.
- 88. Fehr T, Naim HY, Bachmann MF, Ochsenbein AF, Spielhofer P, Bucher E, et al. T-cell independent IgM and enduring protective IgG antibodies induced by chimeric measles viruses. Nat Med. 1998 Aug;4(8):945–8.
- Brewer JM, Conacher M, Hunter CA, Mohrs M, Brombacher F, Alexander J. Aluminium hydroxide adjuvant initiates strong antigen-specific Th2 responses in the absence of IL-4- or IL-13-mediated signaling. J Immunol. 1999 Dec 15;163(12):6448–54.
- Liu B, Lee JB, Chen CY, Hershey GKK, Wang YH. Collaborative interactions between type 2 innate lymphoid cells and antigen-specific CD4+ Th2 cells exacerbate murine allergic airway diseases with prominent eosinophilia. J Immunol. 2015 Apr 15;194(8):3583–93.
- 91. Rodriguez-Sosa M, David JR, Bojalil R, Satoskar AR, Terrazas LI. Cutting edge: susceptibility to the larval stage of the helminth parasite Taenia crassiceps is mediated by Th2 response induced via STAT6 signaling. J Immunol. 2002 Apr 1;168(7):3135–9.
- 92. Singh RR, Saxena V, Zang S, Li L, Finkelman FD, Witte DP, et al. Differential contribution of IL-4 and STAT6 vs STAT4 to the development of lupus nephritis. J Immunol. 2003 May 1;170(9):4818–25.

- Takeda K, Tanaka T, Shi W, Matsumoto M, Minami M, Kashiwamura S, et al. Essential role of Stat6 in IL-4 signalling. Nature. 1996 Apr 18;380(6575):627–30.
- 94. Nguyen CQ, Gao J hua, Kim H, Saban DR, Cornelius JG, Peck AB. IL-4-STAT6 signal transduction-dependent induction of the clinical phase of Sjögren's syndrome-like disease of the nonobese diabetic mouse. J Immunol. 2007 Jul 1;179(1):382–90.
- 95. Herrick CA, Xu L, McKenzie ANJ, Tigelaar RE, Bottomly K. IL-13 is necessary, not simply sufficient, for epicutaneously induced Th2 responses to soluble protein antigen. J Immunol. 2003 Mar 1;170(5):2488–95.
- 96. Shimoda K, van Deursen J, Sangster MY, Sarawar SR, Carson RT, Tripp RA, et al. Lack of IL-4-induced Th2 response and IgE class switching in mice with disrupted Stat6 gene. Nature. 1996 Apr 18;380(6575):630–3.
- Stamm LM, Räisänen-Sokolowski A, Okano M, Russell ME, David JR, Satoskar AR. Mice with STAT6-targeted gene disruption develop a Th1 response and control cutaneous leishmaniasis. J Immunol. 1998 Dec 1;161(11):6180–8.
- 98. Jacob CO, Zang S, Li L, Ciobanu V, Quismorio F, Mizutani A, et al. Pivotal role of Stat4 and Stat6 in the pathogenesis of the lupus-like disease in the New Zealand mixed 2328 mice. J Immunol. 2003 Aug 1;171(3):1564–71.

122

- Carrasco-Yepez M, Rojas-Hernandez S, Rodriguez-Monroy MA, Terrazas LI, Moreno-Fierros L. Protection against Naegleria fowleri infection in mice immunized with Cry1Ac plus amoebic lysates is dependent on the STAT6 Th2 response. Parasite Immunol. 2010 Oct;32(9–10):664–70.
- 100. Faz-López B, Ledesma-Soto Y, Romero-Sánchez Y, Calleja E, Martínez-Labat P, Terrazas LI. Signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 6 signaling contributes to control host lung pathology but favors susceptibility against Toxocara canis infection. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:696343.
- 101. Linehan LA, Warren WD, Thompson PA, Grusby MJ, Berton MT. STAT6 is required for IL-4-induced germline Ig gene transcription and switch recombination. J Immunol. 1998 Jul 1;161(1):302–10.
- 102. Urban JF, Schopf L, Morris SC, Orekhova T, Madden KB, Betts CJ, et al. Stat6 signaling promotes protective immunity against Trichinella spiralis through a mast cell- and T cell-dependent mechanism. J Immunol. 2000 Feb 15;164(4):2046–52.
- 103. Cardoso CR, Provinciatto PR, Godoi DF, Fonseca MT, Ferreira BR, Teixeira G, et al. The signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT-6) mediates Th2 inflammation and tissue damage in a murine model of peanut-induced food allergy. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2019 Dec;47(6):535–43.

- 104. Hamid MA, Jackson RJ, Roy S, Khanna M, Ranasinghe C. Unexpected involvement of IL-13 signalling via a STAT6 independent mechanism during murine IgG2a development following viral vaccination. Eur J Immunol. 2018 Jul;48(7):1153–63.
- 105. Gracie JA, Bradley JA. Interleukin-12 induces interferon-gamma-dependent switching of IgG alloantibody subclass. Eur J Immunol. 1996 Jun;26(6):1217–21.
- 106. Gao N, Dang T, Yuan D. IFN-gamma-dependent and -independent initiation of switch recombination by NK cells. J Immunol. 2001 Aug 15;167(4):2011–
 8.
- 107. Metzger DW, McNutt RM, Collins JT, Buchanan JM, Van Cleave VH, Dunnick WA. Interleukin-12 acts as an adjuvant for humoral immunity through interferon-gamma-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Eur J Immunol. 1997 Aug;27(8):1958–65.
- 108. Su Z, Stevenson MM. Central role of endogenous gamma interferon in protective immunity against blood-stage Plasmodium chabaudi AS infection. Infect Immun. 2000 Aug;68(8):4399–406.
- Snapper CM, Paul WE. Interferon-gamma and B cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate Ig isotype production. Science. 1987 May 22;236(4804):944–7.

- 110. Hraiech S, Bordes J, Mège JL, de Lamballerie X, Charrel R, Bechah Y, et al. Cytomegalovirus reactivation enhances the virulence of Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in a mouse model. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017 Jan;23(1):38–45.
- 111. Forte E, Zhang Z, Thorp EB, Hummel M. Cytomegalovirus Latency and Reactivation: An Intricate Interplay With the Host Immune Response. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:130.
- 112. Cook CH, Zhang Y, Sedmak DD, Martin LC, Jewell S, Ferguson RM. Pulmonary cytomegalovirus reactivation causes pathology in immunocompetent mice. Crit Care Med. 2006 Mar;34(3):842–9.
- 113. Zimring JC, Welniak L, Semple JW, Ness PM, Slichter SJ, Spitalnik SL, et al. Current problems and future directions of transfusion-induced alloimmunization: summary of an NHLBI working group. Transfusion. 2011 Feb;51(2):435–41.
- 114. Collins AM. IgG subclass co-expression brings harmony to the quartet model of murine IgG function. Immunol Cell Biol. 2016 Nov;94(10):949–54.
- Collins AM, Jackson KJL. A Temporal Model of Human IgE and IgG Antibody Function. Front Immunol. 2013;4:235.
- 116. Coutelier JP, van der Logt JT, Heessen FW, Warnier G, Van Snick J. IgG2a restriction of murine antibodies elicited by viral infections. J Exp Med. 1987 Jan 1;165(1):64–9.

- 117. Ruterbusch M, Pruner KB, Shehata L, Pepper M. In Vivo CD4+ T Cell Differentiation and Function: Revisiting the Th1/Th2 Paradigm. Annu Rev Immunol. 2020 Apr 26;38:705–25.
- 118. Lindgren G, Ols S, Liang F, Thompson EA, Lin A, Hellgren F, et al. Induction of Robust B Cell Responses after Influenza mRNA Vaccination Is Accompanied by Circulating Hemagglutinin-Specific ICOS+ PD-1+ CXCR3+ T Follicular Helper Cells. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1539.
- 119. Laczkó D, Hogan MJ, Toulmin SA, Hicks P, Lederer K, Gaudette BT, et al. A Single Immunization with Nucleoside-Modified mRNA Vaccines Elicits Strong Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses against SARS-CoV-2 in Mice. Immunity. 2020 Oct 13;53(4):724-732.e7.
- 120. Liu J, Budylowski P, Samson R, Griffin BD, Babuadze G, Rathod B, et al. Preclinical evaluation of a SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine PTX-COVID19-B. Sci Adv. 2022 Jan 21;8(3):eabj9815.
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y. Understanding the development and function of T follicular helper cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2010 May;7(3):190–7.
- 122. Spellberg B, Edwards JE. Type 1/Type 2 immunity in infectious diseases.Clin Infect Dis. 2001 Jan;32(1):76–102.
- 123. Allen JE, Sutherland TE. Host protective roles of type 2 immunity: parasite killing and tissue repair, flip sides of the same coin. Semin Immunol. 2014 Aug;26(4):329–40.

- 124. Matsumoto M, Sasaki Y, Yasuda K, Takai T, Muramatsu M, Yoshimoto T, et al. IgG and IgE collaboratively accelerate expulsion of Strongyloides venezuelensis in a primary infection. Infect Immun. 2013 Jul;81(7):2518– 27.
- 125. Ehigiator HN, Stadnyk AW, Lee TD. Extract of Nippostrongylus brasiliensis stimulates polyclonal type-2 immunoglobulin response by inducing De novo class switch. Infect Immun. 2000 Sep;68(9):4913–22.
- 126. Mongini PK, Stein KE, Paul WE. T cell regulation of IgG subclass antibody production in response to T-independent antigens. J Exp Med. 1981 Jan 1;153(1):1–12.
- 127. Honda S ichiro, Kurita N, Miyamoto A, Cho Y, Usui K, Takeshita K, et al. Enhanced humoral immune responses against T-independent antigens in Fc alpha/muR-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009 Jul 7;106(27):11230–5.
- Harmer NJ, Chahwan R. Isotype switching: Mouse IgG3 constant region drives increased affinity for polysaccharide antigens. Virulence. 2016 Aug 17;7(6):623–6.
- 129. Cooper LJ, Robertson D, Granzow R, Greenspan NS. Variable domainidentical antibodies exhibit IgG subclass-related differences in affinity and kinetic constants as determined by surface plasmon resonance. Mol Immunol. 1994 Jun;31(8):577–84.

- 130. Hovenden M, Hubbard MA, Aucoin DP, Thorkildson P, Reed DE, Welch WH, et al. IgG subclass and heavy chain domains contribute to binding and protection by mAbs to the poly γ-D-glutamic acid capsular antigen of Bacillus anthracis. PLoS Pathog. 2013;9(4):e1003306.
- Devey ME, Voak D. A critical study of the IgG subclasses of Rh anti-D antibodies formed in pregnancy and in immunized volunteers. Immunology. 1974 Dec;27(6):1073–9.
- 132. Hjelholt A, Christiansen G, Sørensen US, Birkelund S. IgG subclass profiles in normal human sera of antibodies specific to five kinds of microbial antigens. Pathog Dis. 2013 Apr;67(3):206–13.
- 133. Hendrickson JE, Hod EA, Spitalnik SL, Hillyer CD, Zimring JC. Storage of murine red blood cells enhances alloantibody responses to an erythroidspecific model antigen. Transfusion. 2010 Mar;50(3):642–8.
- 134. Arneja A, Salazar JE, Jiang W, Hendrickson JE, Zimring JC, Luckey CJ. Interleukin-6 receptor-alpha signaling drives anti-RBC alloantibody production and T-follicular helper cell differentiation in a murine model of red blood cell alloimmunization. Haematologica. 2016 Nov;101(11):e440–4.
- 135. Calabro S, Gallman A, Gowthaman U, Liu D, Chen P, Liu J, et al. Bridging channel dendritic cells induce immunity to transfused red blood cells. J Exp Med. 2016 May 30;213(6):887–96.

- Hough SH, Ajetunmobi A, Brody L, Humphryes-Kirilov N, Perello E.
 Desktop Genetics. Per Med. 2016 Nov;13(6):517–21.
- 137. Kaplan MH, Schindler U, Smiley ST, Grusby MJ. Stat6 is required for mediating responses to IL-4 and for development of Th2 cells. Immunity.
 1996 Mar;4(3):313–9.
- 138. Sellers RS, Clifford CB, Treuting PM, Brayton C. Immunological variation between inbred laboratory mouse strains: points to consider in phenotyping genetically immunomodified mice. Vet Pathol. 2012 Jan;49(1):32–43.
- 139. Pham CT, MacIvor DM, Hug BA, Heusel JW, Ley TJ. Long-range disruption of gene expression by a selectable marker cassette. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Nov 12;93(23):13090–5.
- 140. Jin C, Kang H, Yoo T, Ryu JR, Yoo YE, Ma R, et al. The Neomycin Resistance Cassette in the Targeted Allele of Shank3B Knock-Out Mice Has Potential Off-Target Effects to Produce an Unusual Shank3 Isoform. Front Mol Neurosci. 2020;13:614435.
- 141. Mikita T, Campbell D, Wu P, Williamson K, Schindler U. Requirements for interleukin-4-induced gene expression and functional characterization of Stat6. Mol Cell Biol. 1996 Oct;16(10):5811–20.
- 142. Darnell JE. STATs and gene regulation. Science. 1997 Sep 12;277(5332):1630–5.

- 143. Mikita T, Daniel C, Wu P, Schindler U. Mutational analysis of the STAT6 SH2 domain. J Biol Chem. 1998 Jul 10;273(28):17634–42.
- 144. Chen S, Lee B, Lee AYF, Modzelewski AJ, He L. Highly Efficient MouseGenome Editing by CRISPR Ribonucleoprotein Electroporation of Zygotes.J Biol Chem. 2016 Jul 8;291(28):14457–67.
- 145. Gailey CD, Wang EJ, Jin L, Ahmadi S, Brautigan DL, Li X, et al. Phosphosite T674A mutation in kinesin family member 3A fails to reproduce tissue and ciliary defects characteristic of CILK1 loss of function. Dev Dyn. 2021 Feb;250(2):263–73.
- 146. Nishizono H, Hayano Y, Nakahata Y, Ishigaki Y, Yasuda R. Rapid generation of conditional knockout mice using the CRISPR-Cas9 system and electroporation for neuroscience research. Mol Brain. 2021 Sep 23;14(1):148.
- Neuberger MS, Rajewsky K. Activation of mouse complement by monoclonal mouse antibodies. Eur J Immunol. 1981 Dec;11(12):1012–6.
- 148. Mener A, Arthur CM, Patel SR, Liu J, Hendrickson JE, Stowell SR. Complement Component 3 Negatively Regulates Antibody Response by Modulation of Red Blood Cell Antigen. Front Immunol. 2018;9:676.
- 149. Brüggemann M, Williams GT, Bindon CI, Clark MR, Walker MR, Jefferis R, et al. Comparison of the effector functions of human immunoglobulins using

a matched set of chimeric antibodies. J Exp Med. 1987 Nov 1;166(5):1351–61.

- 150. Michaelsen TE, Garred P, Aase A. Human IgG subclass pattern of inducing complement-mediated cytolysis depends on antigen concentration and to a lesser extent on epitope patchiness, antibody affinity and complement concentration. Eur J Immunol. 1991 Jan;21(1):11–6.
- 151. Gavin AL, Barnes N, Dijstelbloem HM, Hogarth PM. Identification of the mouse IgG3 receptor: implications for antibody effector function at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. J Immunol. 1998 Jan 1;160(1):20–3.
- 152. Bruhns P. Properties of mouse and human IgG receptors and their contribution to disease models. Blood. 2012 Jun 14;119(24):5640–9.
- 153. Bruhns P, Iannascoli B, England P, Mancardi DA, Fernandez N, Jorieux S, et al. Specificity and affinity of human Fcgamma receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. Blood. 2009 Apr 16;113(16):3716–25.
- 154. Urban JF, Noben-Trauth N, Donaldson DD, Madden KB, Morris SC, Collins M, et al. IL-13, IL-4Ralpha, and Stat6 are required for the expulsion of the gastrointestinal nematode parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis. Immunity. 1998 Feb;8(2):255–64.

155. Miyauchi K, Adachi Y, Tonouchi K, Yajima T, Harada Y, Fukuyama H, et al. Influenza virus infection expands the breadth of antibody responses through IL-4 signalling in B cells. Nat Commun. 2021 Jun 18;12(1):3789.